
 
 

 County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Monday, 23 February 2026 

 

Notice of meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Tuesday, 3rd March, 2026 at 2.00 pm, 
The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence. 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest. 

 
 

3.   To confirm for accuracy the minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
1 - 6 

4.   To consider the following Planning Application reports from the Chief 
Officer Place and Community Wellbeing (copies attached): 

 

 

4.1.   Application DM/2024/01398 - Renovation and domestic conversion of a 
collection of Listed barns. The barns consist of three main structures; Y 
Beudy; an old byre and later a milking parlour, the Cruck barn and the 
old Stables. It is proposed that a new link is built between the Cruck 
Barn and Y Beudy, and that the existing link between the cruck barn and 
the old stables is rebuilt. The Cruck barn and Y Beudy will become a 
three bedroom house, and the old stables an attached one bedroom 
annex and open garage. New services will be fitted throughout to 
include solar panels, a ground source heat pump and a new treatment 
plant.Land At New House Farm Llanvetherine Monmouthshire NP7 8RH. 

 

7 - 22 

4.2.   Application DM/2024/01537 - Development of a restaurant with drive-thru 
facility (Use Class A3) including access, servicing, car parking, hard and 
soft landscaping and other associated works.  Land At Newhouse Farm 
Industrial Estate, Chepstow, Monmouthshire. 

 

23 - 62 

5.   FOR INFORMATION - Appeals lodged with the Council between 1st 
October and 31st December 2025. 

 

63 - 64 

 
Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

 

Public Document Pack



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE IS AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
County Councillor Jill Bond West End; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Fay Bromfield Llangybi Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Rachel Buckler Devauden; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Emma Bryn Wyesham; Independent Group 
County Councillor Jan Butler Goetre Fawr; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor John Crook Magor East with 

Undy; 
Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Tony Easson Dewstow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Steven Garratt Overmonnow; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Meirion Howells Llanbadoc & Usk; Independent 
County Councillor Su McConnel Croesonen; Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 
County Councillor Jayne McKenna Mitchel Troy and 

Trellech United; 
Welsh Conservative Party 

County Councillor Phil Murphy Caerwent; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Maureen Powell Pen Y Fal; Welsh Conservative Party 
County Councillor Sue Riley Bulwark and 

Thornwell; 
Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Dale Rooke Chepstow Castle & 
Larkfield; 

Welsh Labour/Llafur Cymru 

County Councillor Ann Webb St Arvans; Welsh Conservative Party 
 
:  

 
Public Information 
 
Please note that Monmouthshire County Council will film this meeting and it will be made 
available to view in live and archive form online. It is possible that the public seating areas 
could be filmed and by entering the Chamber you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting purposes. If you make a 
representation to the meeting you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed.  

 
Recordings of the meeting will be stored in accordance with the Council’s data retention policy. 
Archived webcasts or parts of webcasts shall only be removed from the Council’s website if 
the Monitoring Officer considers that it is necessary because all or part of the content of the 
webcast is or is likely to be in breach of any statutory provision or common law doctrine, for 
example Data Protection and Human Rights legislation or provisions relating to confidential or 
exempt information. 

 

Any person wishing to speak at Planning Committee must do so by registering 
with Democratic Services by no later than 12 noon two working days before the 
meeting.  Details regarding public speaking can be found within this agenda  
 
 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a 
hard copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting may be viewed online by visiting the link below. 
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=141 

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk%2FieListMeetings.aspx%3FCommitteeId%3D141&data=02%7C01%7CRichardWilliams%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C93f34698f3224d15a82408d813976feb%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C637280888418511406&sdata=M38OSo5r%2FKQ%2Fra1tJoQ4RHie9Tbzh%2FrNhFY8kvwfF%2FE%3D&reserved=0


 
This will take you to the page relating to all Planning Committee meetings. Please click on the 
relevant Planning Committee meeting. You will then find the link to view the meeting on this 
page. Please click the link to view the meeting. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh 
or English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with 5 days notice prior to the meeting 
should you wish to speak in Welsh so we can accommodate your needs.  

 



Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
To become a zero-carbon county, supporting well-being, health and dignity for everyone at 
every stage of life. 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 
• Fair place to live where the effects of inequality and poverty have been reduced. 
• Green place to live and work with reduced carbon emissions and making a positive 

contribution to addressing the climate and nature emergency.  
• Thriving and ambitious place, where there are vibrant town centres and where 

businesses can grow and develop.  
• Safe place to live where people have a home where they feel secure in.  
• Connected place where people feel part of a community and are valued.  
• Learning place where everybody has the opportunity to reach their potential.          

 
Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot 

do something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if 

we can’t answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building 

trust and engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does 

not seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly 

and consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and 

explaining why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective 

and efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to 

embrace new ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get 

involved so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or 

problem-solvers, but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to 

make sure we do the things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of 

relationships and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



Purpose 
The purpose of the attached reports and associated officer presentation to the Committee is to 
allow the Planning Committee to make a decision on each application in the attached 
schedule, having weighed up the various material planning considerations.  
 
The Planning Committee has delegated powers to make decisions on planning applications. 
The reports contained in this schedule assess the proposed development against relevant 
planning policy and other material planning considerations, and take into consideration all 
consultation responses received.  Each report concludes with an officer recommendation to 
the Planning Committee on whether or not officers consider planning permission should be 
granted (with suggested planning conditions where appropriate), or refused (with suggested 
reasons for refusal).  
 
Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the Monmouthshire Local Development 
Plan 2011-2021 (adopted February 2014), unless material planning considerations indicate 
otherwise.  
 
Section 2(2) of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 states that the planning function must be 
exercised, as part of carrying out sustainable development in accordance with the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, for the purpose of ensuring that the development and 
use of land contribute to improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Wales. 
 
The decisions made are expected to benefit the County and our communities by allowing good 
quality development in the right locations, and resisting development that is inappropriate, poor 
quality or in the wrong location.  There is a direct link to the Council’s objective of building 
sustainable, resilient communities. 
 
Decision-making 

Applications can be granted subject to planning conditions. Conditions must meet all of the 
following criteria: 

 Necessary to make the proposed development acceptable; 

 Relevant to planning legislation (i.e. a planning consideration); 

 Relevant to the proposed development in question; 

 Precise; 

 Enforceable; and 

 Reasonable in all other respects. 

 
Applications can be granted subject to a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). This secures planning obligations to offset the 
impacts of the proposed development. However, in order for these planning obligations to be 
lawful, they must meet all of the following criteria: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 Directly related to the development; and 

 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
The applicant has a statutory right of appeal against the refusal of permission in most cases, 
or against the imposition of planning conditions, or against the failure of the Council to 
determine an application within the statutory time period. There is no third party right of appeal 
against a decision. 
 
The Planning Committee may make decisions that are contrary to the officer recommendation.  
However, reasons must be provided for such decisions, and the decision must be based on 
the Local Development Plan (LDP) and/or material planning considerations.  Should such a 
decision be challenged at appeal, Committee Members will be required to defend their 
decision throughout the appeal process. 
 



 
Planning policy context 
 
Future Wales – the national plan 2040 is the national development framework, setting the 
direction for development in Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for 
addressing key national priorities through the planning system, including sustaining and 
developing a vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing 
strong ecosystems and improving the health and well-being of our communities.  Future Wales 
– the national plan 2040 is the national development framework and it is the highest tier plan , 
setting the direction for development in Wales to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on 
by Strategic Development Plans at a regional level and Local Development Plans.  Planning 
decisions at every level of the planning system in Wales must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole.  
 
Monmouthshire’s Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out the Council’s vision and 
objectives for the development and use of land in Monmouthshire, together with the policies 
and proposals to implement them over a 10 year period to 2021. The plan area excludes that 
part of the County contained within the Brecon Beacons National Park. It has a fundamental 
role in delivering sustainable development. In seeking to achieve this it sets out a framework 
for the development and use of land and for the protection of the environment. It also guides 
and facilitates investment decisions as well as the delivery of services and infrastructure. It 
determines the level of provision and location of new housing, employment and other uses and 
sets the framework for considering all land use proposals during the plan period. 
The LDP contains over-arching policies on development and design. Rather than repeat these 
for each application, the full text is set out below for Members’ assistance. 
 
Policy EP1 - Amenity and Environmental Protection 

Development, including proposals for new buildings, extensions to existing buildings and 
advertisements, should have regard to the privacy, amenity and health of occupiers of 
neighbouring properties.  Development proposals that would cause or result in an 
unacceptable risk /harm to local amenity, health, the character /quality of the countryside or 
interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance due to the following 
will not be permitted, unless it can be demonstrated that measures can be taken to overcome 
any significant risk: 

- Air pollution; 

- Light  or noise pollution; 

- Water pollution; 

- Contamination; 

- Land instability; 

- Or any identified risk to public health or safety. 

 
Policy DES1 – General Design Considerations 

All development should be of a high quality sustainable design and respect the local character 
and distinctiveness of Monmouthshire’s built, historic and natural environment. Development 
proposals will be required to: 

a) Ensure a safe, secure, pleasant and convenient environment that is accessible to all 

members of the community, supports the principles of community safety and 

encourages walking and cycling; 

b) Contribute towards sense of place whilst ensuring that the amount of development and 

its intensity is compatible with existing uses; 

c) Respect the existing form, scale, siting, massing, materials and layout of its setting and 

any neighbouring quality buildings; 

d) Maintain reasonable levels of privacy and amenity of occupiers of neighbouring 

properties, where applicable; 

e) Respect built and natural views and panoramas where they include historical features 

and/or attractive or distinctive built environment or landscape; 



f) Use building techniques, decoration, styles and lighting to enhance the appearance of 

the proposal having regard to texture, colour, pattern, durability and craftsmanship in 

the use of materials; 

g) Incorporate and, where possible enhance existing features that are of historical, visual 

or nature conservation value and use the vernacular tradition where appropriate; 

h) Include landscape proposals for new buildings and land uses in order that they 

integrate into their surroundings, taking into account the appearance of the existing 

landscape and its intrinsic character, as defined through the LANDMAP process. 

Landscaping should take into account, and where appropriate retain, existing trees and 

hedgerows; 

i) Make the most efficient use of land compatible with the above criteria, including that 

the minimum net density of residential development should be 30 dwellings per 

hectare, subject to criterion l) below; 

j) Achieve a climate responsive and resource efficient design. Consideration should be 

given to location, orientation, density, layout, built form and landscaping and to energy 

efficiency and the use of renewable energy, including materials and technology; 

k) Foster inclusive design; 

l) Ensure that existing residential areas characterised by high standards of privacy and 

spaciousness are protected from overdevelopment and insensitive or inappropriate 
infilling. 

 
Other key relevant LDP policies will be referred to in the officer report. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 

The following Supplementary Planning Guidance may also be of relevance to decision-making 

as a material planning consideration: 

- Green Infrastructure (adopted April 2015) 

- Conversion of Agricultural Buildings Design Guide (adopted April 2015) 

- LDP Policy H4(g) Conversion/Rehabilitation of Buildings in the Open Countryside to 

Residential Use- Assessment of Re-use for Business Purposes (adopted April 2015) 

- LDP Policies H5 & H6 Replacement Dwellings and Extension of Rural Dwellings in the 

Open Countryside (adopted April 2015) 

- Abergavenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Caerwent Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Chepstow Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Grosmont Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llanarth Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llandenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llandogo Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llanover Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Llantilio Crossenny Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Magor Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Mathern Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Monmouth Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Raglan Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Shirenewton Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- St Arvans Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Tintern Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Trellech Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted April 2012) 

- Usk Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Whitebrook Conservation Area Appraisal (adopted March 2016) 

- Domestic Garages (adopted January 2013) 

- Monmouthshire Parking Standards (adopted January 2013) 

- Approach to Planning Obligations (March 2013) 

- Affordable Housing (revised version) (adopted July 2019) 



- Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (adopted March 2016) 

- Planning Advice Note on Wind Turbine Development Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment Requirements (adopted March 2016) 

- Primary Shopping Frontages (adopted April 2016) 

- Rural Conversions to a Residential or Tourism Use (Policies H4 and T2) 

Supplementary Planning Guidance November 2017 

- Sustainable Tourism Accommodation Supplementary Guidance November 2017 

- Affordable Housing Supplementary Guidance July 2019 

- Infill Development Supplementary Guidance November 2019 

 
National Planning Policy 

The following national planning policy may also be of relevance to decision-making as a 

material planning consideration: 

- Future Wales: the national plan 2040 

 

- Planning Policy Wales (PPW) edition12 

 

- PPW Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 

- TAN 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015) 

- TAN 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 

- TAN 3: Simplified Planning Zones (1996) 

- TAN 4: Retail and commercial development (November 2016) 

- TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 

- TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 

- TAN 7: Outdoor Advertisement Control (1996) 

- TAN 8: Renewable Energy (2005) 

- TAN 9: Enforcement of Planning Control (1997) 

- TAN 10: Tree Preservation Orders (1997) 

- TAN 11: Noise (1997) 

- TAN 12: Design (2016) 

- TAN 13: Tourism (1997) 

- TAN14: coastal planning (2021) 

- TAN 15: Development, flooding and coastal erosion (March 2025) 

- TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 

- TAN 18: Transport (2007) 

- TAN 20: The Welsh Language (2017) 

- TAN 21: Waste (2014) 

- TAN 23: Economic Development (2014) 

- TAN 24: The Historic Environment (2017) 

- Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 1: Aggregates (30 March 2004) 

- Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) Wales 2: Coal (20 January 2009) 

- Welsh Government Circular 016/2014 on planning conditions 

 

Other matters 

The following other legislation may be of relevance to decision-making. 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 

As of January 2016, Sections 11 and 31 of the Planning Act come into effect meaning the 

Welsh language is a material planning consideration.  

Section 31 of the Planning Act clarifies that considerations relating to the use of the Welsh 

language can be taken into account by planning authorities when making decisions on 

applications for planning permission, so far as material to the application. The provisions do 

not apportion any additional weight to the Welsh language in comparison to other material 



considerations.  Whether or not the Welsh language is a material consideration in any planning 

application remains entirely at the discretion of the local planning authority, and the decision 

whether or not to take Welsh language issues into account should be informed by the 

consideration given to the Welsh language as part of the LDP preparation process.  Section 11 

requires the sustainability appraisal, undertaken as part of LDP preparation, to include an 

assessment of the likely effects of the plan on the use of Welsh language in the community. 

Where the authority’s current single integrated plan has identified the Welsh language as a 

priority, the assessment should be able to demonstrate the linkage between consideration for 

the Welsh language and the overarching Sustainability Appraisal for the LDP, as set out in 

TAN 20. 

The adopted Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (LDP) 2014 was subject to a 

sustainability appraisal, taking account of the full range of social, environmental and economic 

considerations, including the Welsh language.  Monmouthshire has a relatively low proportion 

of population that speak, read or write Welsh compared with other local authorities in Wales 

and it was not considered necessary for the LDP to contain a specific policy to address the 

Welsh language. The conclusion of the assessment of the likely effects of the plan on the use 

of the Welsh language in the community was minimal.  

Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2016 

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 

2016 are relevant to the recommendations made.  The officer report will highlight when an 

Environmental Statement has been submitted with an application. 

Conservation of Habitat & Species Regulations 2017  

Where an application site has been assessed as being a breeding site or resting place for 

European Protected Species, it will usually be necessary for the developer to apply for 

‘derogation’ (a development licence) from Natural Resources Wales.  Examples of EPS are all 

bat species, dormice and great crested newts. When considering planning applications 

Monmouthshire County Council as Local Planning Authority is required to have regard to the 

Conservation of Species & Habitat Regulations 2010 (the Habitat Regulations) and to the fact 

that derogations are only allowed where the three tests set out in Article 16 of the Habitats 

Directive are met. The three tests are set out below. 

(i) The derogation is in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 

nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment. 

(ii) There is no satisfactory alternative 

(iii) The derogation is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species 

concerned ay a favourable conservation status in their natural range. 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

This Act is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of 

Wales.  The Act sets out a number of well-being goals: 

- A prosperous Wales: efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 

wealth, provides jobs; 

- A resilient Wales: maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that support 

resilience and can adapt to change (e.g. climate change); 

- A healthier Wales: people’s physical and mental wellbeing is maximised and health 

impacts are understood; 

- A Wales of cohesive communities: communities are attractive, viable, safe and well 

connected; 

- A globally responsible Wales: taking account of impact on global well-being when 

considering local social, economic and environmental wellbeing; 



- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: culture, heritage and 

Welsh language are promoted and protected.  People are encouraged to do sport, art 

and recreation; 

- A more equal Wales: people can fulfil their potential no matter what their background 

or circumstances. 

 

A number of sustainable development principles are also set out: 
- Long term: balancing short term need with long term and planning for the future; 

- Collaboration: working together with other partners to deliver objectives; 

- Involvement: involving those with an interest and seeking their views; 

- Prevention: putting resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse; 

- Integration: positively impacting on people, economy and environment and trying to 

benefit all three. 

 
The work undertaken by Local Planning Authority directly relates to promoting and ensuring 

sustainable development and seeks to strike a balance between the three areas: environment, 

economy and society.   

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those 

functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its 

area.  Crime and fear of crime can be a material planning consideration.  This topic will be 

highlighted in the officer report where it forms a significant consideration for a proposal. 

Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 contains a public sector equality duty to integrate consideration of 

equality and good relations into the regular business of public authorities. The Act identifies a 

number of ‘protected characteristics’: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil 

partnership; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation.  Compliance is intended to 

result in better informed decision-making and policy development and services that are more 

effective for users. In exercising its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need to: 

eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct that is 

prohibited by the Act; advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; and foster good relations between persons who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not. Due regard to advancing equality involves: 

removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 

differ from the needs of other people; and encouraging people from protected groups to 

participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

Children and Families (Wales) Measure 

Consultation on planning applications is open to all of our citizens regardless of their age: no 

targeted consultation takes place specifically aimed at children and young people.  Depending 

on the scale of the proposed development, applications are publicised via letters to 

neighbouring occupiers, site notices, press notices and/or social media. People replying to 

consultations are not required to provide their age or any other personal data, and therefore 

this data is not held or recorded in any way, and responses are not separated out by age. 

Climate Emergency 

In May 2019 Monmouthshire County Council declared a Climate Emergency with unanimous 

support from Councillors. The Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Neighbourhood Services 

has been appointed as the member responsible for climate change and decarbonisation. 



Tackling climate change is very important, because if the planet’s temperature rises by 2°C 

there are risks of drought, flood and poverty, impacting on hundreds of millions of people. In 

Monmouthshire impacts that could happen include more extreme weather events (such as 

storms), water shortages, droughts, species loss and risk of flooding. Planning has a key role 

in addressing climate change through the promotion of sustainable development.  

The Council has formulated a draft action plan which will be subject to Member approval and 

will form the Council’s response to tackling this issue. Council decisions will need to take into 

account the agreed action plan.  



Protocol on Public Speaking at Planning Committee 
 
Public speaking at Planning Committee will be allowed strictly in accordance with this 
protocol. You cannot demand to speak at the Committee as of right. The invitation to speak 
and the conduct of the meeting is at the discretion of the Chair of the Planning Committee 
and subject to the points set out below. The conventional protocol has been modified to 
allow public speaking via pre-recorded videos or to attend the meeting in person and 
address the Planning Committee. 

 
Who Can Speak 
Community and Town Councils 
Community and town councils can address Planning Committee via a pre-recorded video 
or in person at the meeting.. Only elected members of community and town councils may 
speak. Representatives will be expected to uphold the following principles: - 

(i) To observe the National Code of Local Government Conduct. (ii) 
Not to introduce information that is not: 

 consistent with the written representations of their council, or 

 part of an application, or 

 contained in the planning report or file. 
When a town or community councillor has registered to speak in opposition to an application, 
the applicant or agent will be allowed the right of reply. 
 
Members of the Public 
Speaking will be limited to one member of the public opposing a development and one 
member of the public supporting a development. Where there is more than one person in 
opposition or support, the individuals or groups should work together to establish a 
spokesperson. The Chair of the Committee may exercise discretion to allow a second 
speaker, but only in exceptional cases where a major application generates divergent 
views  within  one  ‘side’ of  the  argument (e.g.  a  superstore application  where  one 
spokesperson represents  residents  and  another  local retailers).  Members of the public 
may appoint representatives to speak on their behalf. 
Where no agreement is reached, the right to speak shall fall to the first person/organisation 
to register their request. When an objector has registered to speak the applicant or agent 
will be allowed the right of reply. 
Speaking  will  be  limited  to  applications  where, by the deadline,  letters  of 
objection/support  or signatures on a petition have been submitted to the Council from 5 or 
more separate households/organisations (in this context organisations would not include 
community or town councils or statutory consultees which have their own method of 
ensuring an appropriate application is considered at Committee) The deadline referred to 
above is 5pm on the day six clear working days prior to the Committee meeting. This will 
normally be 5pm on the Friday six clear working days before the Tuesday Planning 
Committee meeting.  However, the deadline may be earlier, for example if there is a Bank 
Holiday Monday. 

 
The number of objectors and/or supporters will be clearly stated in the officer’s report for the 
application contained in the published agenda. 
 
The Chair may exercise discretion to allow speaking by members of the public where an 
application may significantly affect a sparse rural area but less than 5 letters of 
objection/support have been received. 



 

 

Applicants 

 

Applicants or their appointed agents will have a right of response where members of the public 
or a community/town council, have registered to address committee in opposition to an 
application. This will also be via a pre-recorded video or in person at the Planning Committee 
meeting. 

 
When is speaking permitted? 
Public speaking will normally only be permitted on one occasion where applications are 
considered by Planning Committee. When applications are deferred and particularly when re-
presented following a committee resolution to determine an application contrary to officer 
advice, public speaking will not normally be permitted. Regard will however be had to special 
circumstances on applications that may justify an exception. The final decision lies with the 
Chair. 

 
Registering Requests to Speak 
 
Speakers must register their request to speak as soon as possible, between 12 noon on the 
Tuesday and 12 noon on the Friday before the Committee. To register a request to speak, 
objectors/supporters must first have made written representations on the application. 
 
Anyone wishing to speak must notify the Council’s Democratic Services Officers of their request 
by calling 01633 644219 or by email to registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk. Please leave a 
daytime telephone number. Any requests to speak that are emailed through will be 
acknowledged prior to the deadline for registering to speak. If you do not receive an 
acknowledgement before the deadline please contact Democratic Services on 01633 644219 to 
check that your registration has been received. 
 
Parties are welcome to address the Planning Committee in English or Welsh, however if 
speakers wish to use the Welsh language they are requested to make this clear when 
registering to speak, and are asked to give at least 5 working days’ notice to allow the 
Council the time to procure a simultaneous translator. 

 
Applicants/agents and objectors/supporters are advised to stay in contact with the case officer 
regarding progress on the application. It is the responsibility of those wishing to speak to check 
when the application is to be considered by Planning Committee by contacting the Planning 
Office, which will be able to provide details of the likely date on which the application will be 
heard. The procedure for registering the request to speak is set out above. 
 
The Council will maintain a list of persons wishing to speak at Planning Committee. 

Once the request to speak has been registered by the Council the speaker must submit their pre-
recorded video by midday on Monday before the Committee meeting. The video content must 
comply with the terms below and be no more than 4 minutes in duration. If the third party does not 
wish to record a video they will need to submit a script to the Council by the deadline above, that 
will be read out by an officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. The script shall contain no 
more than 500 words and shall also comply with the terms below. Speakers will also have the 
option to attend the meeting in person and address Planning Committee. 

 
Content of the Speeches 
Comments by the representative of the town/community council or objector, supporter or 
applicant/agent should be limited to matters raised in their original representations and be 
relevant planning issues. These include: 

 Relevant national and local planning policies 

 Appearance and character of the development, layout and density 

 Traffic generation, highway safety and parking/servicing; 

 Overshadowing, overlooking, noise disturbance, odours or other loss of amenity. 

mailto:registertospeak@monmouthshire.gov.uk.


 

 

 
Speakers  should  avoid  referring  to  matters  outside  the  remit  of  the  Planning 
Committee, such as; 

 Boundary disputes, covenants and other property rights 

 Personal remarks (e.g. Applicant’s motives or actions to date or about members or 
officers) 

 Rights to views or devaluation of property. 
 
 

 
Procedure at the Planning Committee Meeting 
 
The procedure for dealing with public speaking is set out below: 
 

 The Chair will identify the application to be considered. 

 An officer will present a summary of the application and issues with the 
recommendation. 

 The local member if not on Planning Committee will be invited to speak for a 
maximum of 6 minutes by the Chair. 

 If applicable, the video recording of the representative of the community or town 
council will then be played to Members (this shall be no more than 4 minutes in 
duration). Alternatively, if the community or town council has opted to submit a 
script of their representations that will be read out by an officer to the Committee 
Members at the meeting. Alternatively, the community or town council 
representatives may address the Planning Committee in person at the meeting for 
a maximum of 4 minutes. 

 If applicable, the objector’s video recording will then be played to the Members 
(this shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration) Alternatively, if a third party 
has opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an 
officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. Alternatively, the objector 
may address the Planning Committee in person at the meeting for a maximum 
of 4 minutes. 

 If applicable, the supporter’s video recording will then be played to Members (this 
shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration) Alternatively, if the third party has 
opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an officer 
to the Committee Members at the meeting. Alternatively, the supporter may 
address the Planning Committee in person at the meeting for a maximum of 4 
minutes. 

 If applicable, the applicant’s (or appointed agent’s) video recording will then be played 
to Members (this shall be no more than 4 minutes in duration). Alternatively, if the third 
party has opted to submit a script of their representations that will be read out by an 
officer to the Committee Members at the meeting. Alternatively, the applicant (or 
appointed agent) may address the Planning Committee in person at the meeting for a 
maximum of 4 minutes. 

 Where more than one person or organisation speaks against an application, the 
applicant or appointed agent, shall, at the discretion of the Chair, be entitled to submit 
a video of their response of up to 5 minutes in duration. Alternatively, the applicant (or 
appointed agent) may address the Planning Committee in person at the meeting up to 
5 minutes in duration. 

o Time limits will normally be strictly adhered to, however the Chair will have 
discretion to amend the time having regard to the circumstances of the 
application or those speaking. 

o Speakers may speak only once. 
o Committee Members may then raise technical questions with officers. 
o  

 Planning Committee members will then debate the application, commencing with the 



 

 

local member if a Member of Planning Committee. Officers will not take any further 
questions unless it is to advise Members about a procedural or legal issue, or where 
they consider Members are deviating from material planning considerations. 

 Where an objector or supporter or applicant/agent community or town council has 
spoken on an application no further speaking by or on behalf of that group will be 
permitted in the event that the application is considered again at a future meeting of the 
Committee unless there has been a material change in the application. 

 The Chair’s decision regarding a procedural matter is final. 

 When proposing a motion either to accept the officer recommendation or to make an 
amendment the Member proposing the motion shall state the motion clearly. 

 When the motion has been seconded the Chair shall identify the Members who 
proposed and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed (including any 
additional conditions or other matters raised). The names of the proposer and seconder 
shall be recorded. 

  Members shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless they 
h a v e  been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that particular application. 

 Any Member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
their abstention. 

 The Legal Officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 

  

 When the motion has been seconded, the Chair shall identify the members who proposed 
and seconded the motion and repeat the motion proposed. The names of the proposer 
and seconder shall be recorded. 

 A member shall decline to vote in relation to any planning application unless he or she 
has been present in the meeting of the Planning Committee throughout the full 
presentation and consideration of that application. 

 Any member who abstains from voting shall consider whether to give a reason for 
his/her abstention. 

 An officer shall count the votes and announce the decision. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Tuesday, 10th 

February, 2026 at 2.00 pm 
 

  

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillor Dale Rooke (Chair) 
 

 County Councillors: Fay Bromfield, Rachel Buckler, Emma Bryn, 
Jan Butler, John Crook, Tony Easson, Steven Garratt, 
Meirion Howells, Jayne McKenna, Phil Murphy, Maureen Powell, and 
Ann Webb 
 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Andrew Jones Head of Planning 
Philip Thomas Development Services Manager 
Paige Moseley Solicitor 
Richard Ray Paralegal 
Richard Williams Democratic Services Officer 

 

 
Due to technical issues County Councillor Jayne McKenna did not vote in respect of 
application DM/2025/00707. 
 
Due to technical issues County Councillor Emma Bryn did not vote in respect of 
application DM/2025/00783. 
 
 

APOLOGIES: 
 

County Councillors Jill Bond and Su McConnel 
 
 

1. Chairing the Meeting  
 
The Chair of Planning Committee, County Councillor Phil Murphy opened the meeting 
before handing over to the Vice-Chair, County Councillor Dale Rooke, who undertook 
the chairing duties for today’s meeting. 
 
County Councillor Rooke therefore took on the role as Chair for the remainder of the 
meeting. 
 
2. Declarations of Interest  

 

County Councillor Tony Easson declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest pursuant to 
the Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of application DM/2025/00707, as he knows 
the objectors to the application. He therefore abstained from voting on the application. 
 

3. Confirmation of Minutes  
 

The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting dated 2nd December 2025 were 
confirmed as an accurate record.  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Tuesday, 10th 

February, 2026 at 2.00 pm 
 

 

4. Application DM/2025/00707 - Outline planning for one dwelling. 1 Woodland 
View, Rogiet, Monmouthshire, NP26 3SY  

 
We considered the report of the application and late correspondence which was 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined in the report (including the 
additional conditions 8 & 9 outlined in late correspondence) and subject to a Section 
106 Agreement.  
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=Ay9EqCTz64gaa9wJ&t=180 
 
In noting the detail of the application and the views expressed, it was proposed by 
County Councillor Phil Murphy and seconded by County Councillor Maureen Powell that 
application DM/2025/00707 be approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report 
(including the additional conditions 8 & 9 outlined in late correspondence) and subject to 
a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the following votes were recorded:  
 
For approval   -  10  
Against approval  -  0  
Abstentions   -  1  
 
The proposition was carried.  
 
We resolved that application DM/2025/00707 be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report (including the additional conditions 8 & 9) and subject to a Section 
106 Agreement.  
 
Additional conditions as follows: 
 
8.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 1 Classes A B C D E F 
& H of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development)(Amendment)(Wales) Order 2013 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification) no enlargements, improvements or other 
alterations to the dwellinghouse or any outbuildings shall be erected or constructed 
without the prior permission of the local planning authority. 
REASON: To prevent the over-development of this relatively small plot and to prevent 
any loss of amenity to neighbouring properties, especially having regard to the potential 
impact that could result from alterations to the roof, in accordance with policies DES1 
and EP1 of the LDP. 
 
9. The parking provision for the host property, 1 Woodland View, Rogiet, shown on the 
proposed block plan drawing MH-10489 Rev. B, together with the reduction of the 
roadside boundary enclosures to no more than 1m in height, shall be carried out (and 
available for use) prior to any work commencing on the dwelling, hereby approved.  
REASON: To ensure adequate off-road parking is available, reduce the incidence of on-
street parking and improve forward visibility in the interests of highway safety and in 
accordance with Policy MV1 of the LDP. 

Page 2

https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=Ay9EqCTz64gaa9wJ&t=180


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Tuesday, 10th 

February, 2026 at 2.00 pm 
 

 

5. Application DM/2025/00783 - Change of use of specific internal areas of the 
existing hotel (Use Class C1) to a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui 
Generis) comprising 9 bedrooms for occupation by up to 15 persons, 
including minor internal alterations. No alterations or works are proposed to 
the exterior of the building. Greenman Backpackers, 13 Beaufort Square, 
Chepstow, NP16 5EP  

 

We considered the report of the application and late correspondence which was 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions outlined in the report. 
 
https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=mfuD1Ya61lyRbCOQ&t=2040 
 
In noting the detail of the application and the views expressed, it was proposed by 
County Councillor Ann Webb and seconded by County Councillor Jan Butler that 
application DM/2025/00783 be approved subject to the conditions outlined in the report. 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the following votes were recorded:  
 
For approval   -  12  
Against approval  -  0  
Abstentions   -  0  
 
The proposition was carried.  
 
We resolved that application DM/2025/00783 be approved subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report. 
 

6. FOR INFORMATION - The Planning Inspectorate - Appeals Decisions 
Received:  

 

https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=JTIubpqI95rr7Cxt&t=3714 
 

6.1.   1 Bersondy, Llanarth NP15 2AY 
 

We received the Planning Inspectorate report which related to an appeal decision 
following a site visit that had been held at 1 Bersondy, Llanarth NP15 2AY on 11th 
December 2025.     
 
We noted that the appeal had been dismissed insofar as it related to the proposed two 
storey side extension. The appeal had been allowed insofar as it related to the 
proposed single storey rear extension and planning permission was granted for the 
proposed single storey rear extension at 1 Bersondy, Llanarth NP15 2AY in accordance 
with the terms of the application, Ref DM/2025/00330, dated 12th  March 2025, and 
subject to the conditions set out in the schedule. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=mfuD1Ya61lyRbCOQ&t=2040
https://www.youtube.com/live/4_B0hJpcYks?si=JTIubpqI95rr7Cxt&t=3714


MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Tuesday, 10th 

February, 2026 at 2.00 pm 
 

 
6.2.   Forge Cottage, The Hendre, Monmouthshire, NP25 5HG 

 
We received the Planning Inspectorate report which related to an appeal decision 
relating to Appeal reference: CAS-04255-H6P5W7 and Appeal reference: CAS-04254-
Z8S8Y8 following a site visit that had been held at Forge Cottage, The Hendre, 
Monmouthshire, NP25 5HG on 14th October 2025.    
 
We noted that the appeals had been dismissed. 
 

6.3.   Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne Street, Usk, NP15 1RY 
 

We received the Planning Inspectorate report which related to an appeal decision 
following a site visit that had been held at Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne Street, Usk, NP15 
1RY on 14th October 2025 regarding the following appeals: 
 

 Appeal A reference: CAS-03795-L9Y4M5.  

 Appeal B reference: CAS-03825-P0F7S1. 
 
We noted that the following decisions: 
 
Appeal A 
 
It had been concluded that the appeal should be allowed in part and dismissed in part. 
The appeal is dismissed insofar as it relates to the air source heat pumps. The appeal is 
allowed insofar as it relates to the replacement truss, window boxes, stair removal and 
re-location, movement of all upper floors, partitions and wall coverings, roof infill link 
structure, and listed building consent is granted for replacement truss, window boxes, 
stair removal and re-location, movement of all upper floors, partitions and wall 
coverings, roof infill link structure at Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne Street, Usk, NP15 1RY in 
accordance with the terms of the application, (ref: DM/2022/00419), dated 15 March 
2022 and the plans submitted with it so far as relevant to that part of the development 
hereby permitted and subject to the conditions set out in the schedule. 
 
Appeal B 
 
The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for an air source heat pump, 
installation of window to the north west and a sky light at Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne 
Street, Usk, NP15 1RY, in accordance with the terms of the application, (ref: 
DM/2022/00736), dated 17 May 2022, subject to the conditions set out in the schedule. 
 

6.4.   Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne Street, Usk, NP15 1RY (costs decisions) 
 

We received the Planning Inspectorate report which related to a costs decision following 
a site visit that had been held at Little Bank, 8 Porthycarne Street, Usk, NP15 1RY on 
14th October 2025 regarding the following appeals: 
 

 Appeal A reference: CAS-03795-L9Y4M5.  

Page 4



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee held 
at The Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA on Tuesday, 10th 

February, 2026 at 2.00 pm 
 

 Appeal B reference: CAS-03825-P0F7S1. 
 
We noted the following: 
 

 Application A for an award of costs is refused. 

 Application B for an award of costs is approved in the terms set out in the 
Inspector’s report. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 3.07 pm.  
 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

 

 

 
Application 
Number: 

DM/2024/01398 
 

 
Proposal: 

 
Renovation and domestic conversion of a collection of Listed barns. The barns 
consist of three main structures; Y Beudy; an old byre and later a milking 
parlour, the Cruck barn and the old Stables. It is proposed that a new link is built 
between the Cruck Barn and Y Beudy, and that the existing link between the 
cruck barn and the old stables is rebuilt. The Cruck barn and Y Beudy will 
become a three bedroom house, and the old stables an attached one bedroom 
annex and open garage. New services will be fitted throughout to include solar 
panels, a ground source heat pump and a new treatment plant. 

 
Address: 

 
Land At New House Farm Llanvetherine Monmouthshire NP7 8RH  
 

Applicant: Ingrid Mansfield Thomas 
 

Plans: 
 

Site Plan 1997_002 - , Floor Plans - Existing 1997_003 - , Floor Plans - Existing 
1997_004 - , Existing Roof Plan 1997_005 - , Elevations - Existing 1997_006 - , 
Elevations - Existing 1997_007 - , Elevations - Existing 1997_008 - , Floor Plans 
- Proposed 1997_021 - D, Floor Plans - Proposed 1997_022 - C, Floor Plans - 
Proposed 1997_023 - C, Elevations - Proposed 1997_024 - C, Elevations - 
Proposed 1997_025 - B, Elevations - Proposed 1997_026 - C, Elevations - 
Proposed 1997_027 - C, Site Sections 1997_028 - D, Site Sections 1997_029 - 
C, Site Sections 1997_030 - C, Site Sections 1997_031 - B, Site Sections 
1997_032 - C, Site Sections 1997_033 - C, Proposed Roof Plan 1997_034 - C, 
Site Plan 1997_035 - C, Location Plan 1997_001 - , Ecology Report 
ECOLOGICAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT REPORT - , Drainage 1997_SK01 - , 
Drainage 1997_042  

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve 
 
Case Officer: Kate Bingham 
Date Valid: 18.11.2024 
 
This application is presented to Planning Committee due to an objection from a statutory 
consultee 
 
1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
1.1 Site Description 
 
This application relates to a group of barns located in open countryside between the villages of 
Llanddewi Rhydderch and Llanvetherine.   
 
The complex was once part of the neighbouring property, New House Farmhouse. The barns were 
separated from the Farmhouse and sold off as two separate lots in 1997. The barns to the south-
east have since been developed into a residential property.  
 
The complex of barns which are the subject of this application consists of three main structures; Y 
Beudy; an old byre and later a milking parlour, the cruck barn and the old Stables. These barns 
have been disused for over twenty five years. The three barns are listed grade II and the adjacent 
New House farmhouse is listed Grade II*.  
 
The barns are listed for their group value with the adjacent (now converted) threshing barn and 
New House farmhouse. Together with the farmhouse, they illustrate a previous way of life in 
Monmouthshire; a group of traditional vernacular buildings serving a large farmhouse. Each 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4a



building was designed for a specific function; byre or stable which changed over time to suit the 
needs of the farm, spaces for keeping and managing animals and the delivery of local produce. As 
a collection of farm buildings, the group are therefore considered to be of historic value. 
 
The site is within the Nutrient Sensitive Catchment Area of the River Usk Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). 
 
1.2 Value Added 
 

• Additional details in relation to bat mitigation and biodiversity enhancements. 

• Drainage field moved away from other known connections. 

• Design and Access Statement. Page 11 has been amended to include justification for the 
width of the drive, and a plan indicating the size of the driveway. 

• Corrected annotation regarding the cruck barn roof. 

• Various design changes at the request of the Council’s Heritage Officer. 
 
1.3 Proposal Description 
 
The application is for the renovation and conversion of three existing barns to provide residential 
accommodation in the form of a single three-bedroom dwelling together with a one bedroom 
annexe. A new domestic garden area is also proposed to the rear of the site. 
 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (if any) 
 
Reference 
Number 

Description Decision Decision 
Date 

    
      
DM/2024/01399 LBC- conversion of Barns, Byre and 

former Stables at New House Farm 
Llanvetherine: a Cruck Barn to Byre 
link, Solar PV, ground source heat 
pump. 

Recommended 
for Approval 

 

  
  
  
DM/2022/00477 New gable window, reinstatement of 

ground floor Plank and Muntin screen 
cladding of blockwork annex at site 
entrance. 

Approved 17.04.2024 

  
DC/2017/00848 Discharge of conditions 4 (drainage), 

5 (bat method statement) & 6 
(planting plan)  of planning 
permission DC/2016/01479. 

Acceptable 29.08.2017 

  
DC/2017/00850 Discharge of condition 4 of Listed 

Building Consent DC/2016/01481. 
Acceptable 14.09.2017 

  
DC/2016/01481 Proposed repair, renovation and 

conversion of existing listed barn to 
provide new dwelling. 

Approved 09.05.2017 

  

Page 8



DC/2016/01479 Proposed repair, renovation and 
conversion of existing listed barn to 
provide new dwelling. 

Approved 05.05.2017 

  
DC/2017/01105 Discharge of conditions; 5 (site 

boundary), 8 (sample and design of 
product) and 10 (sample of slate) 
relating to DC/2016/01481. 

Approved 04.10.2017 

  
DC/2018/00206 Discharge of conditions 4,6,9, and 11 

from previous application 
DC/2016/01481 - roof lights, lime 
pointing etc. 

Approved 12.06.2018 

    
 
3.0 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Strategic Policies 
 
S1 LDP The Spatial Distribution of New Housing Provision 
S12 LDP Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
S13 LDP Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
S16 LDP Transport 
S17 LDP Place Making and Design 
 
Development Management Policies 
 
H4 LDP Conversion/Rehabilitation of Buildings in the Open Countryside for Residential Use 
DES1 LDP General Design Considerations 
EP1 LDP Amenity and Environmental Protection 
EP5 LDP Foul Sewage Disposal 
SD4 LDP Sustainable Drainage 
GI1 LDP Green Infrastructure 
NE1 LDP Nature Conservation and Development 
MV1 LDP Proposed Developments and Highway Considerations 
 
4.0 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 
Future Wales - the national plan 2040 
 
Future Wales is the national development framework, setting the direction for development in 
Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for addressing key national priorities 
through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 
decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health 
and well-being of our communities. Future Wales - the national plan 2040 is the national 
development framework and it is the highest tier plan , setting the direction for development in 
Wales to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a 
regional level and Local Development Plans. Planning decisions at every level of the planning 
system in Wales must be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 12 
 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the 
delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation and resultant duties such as the 
Socio-economic Duty. 
 

Page 9



A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and achieving 
sustainable places.  PPW promotes action at all levels of the planning process which is conducive 
to maximising its contribution to the well-being of Wales and its communities. 
 
5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.1 Consultation Replies 
 
Skenfrith Community Council - Recommends approval. 
 
Heneb - Archaeological mitigation required to be secured via condition. 
 
National Resources Wales (NRW) - We have concerns with the application as submitted 
because inadequate information has been provided in support of the proposal. To overcome these 
concerns, you should seek further information from the applicant regarding protected sites (foul 
drainage). If this information is not provided, we would object to this planning application. Further 
details are provided below. 
 
We also advise that based on the information submitted to date, the document identified below, 
under protected species, should be included in the approved plans and documents condition on 
the decision notice: 
 
Aware Ecology, August 2024. Ecological Impact Assessment Report, Reference AE0036/2/1 
Version 1. 
We also advise that the works are carried out under licence. 
 
MCC Highways - Following review of the latest submission the concerns raised in our comments 
dated 30/04/2025 (below) have not been satisfied therefore we would maintain our 
recommendation for deferral and recommend that the respective concerns be addressed.  
 
Previous Comments 30/4/25 -The Highway Authority do not object to the principle of the 
development however there are concerns which need to be addressed which are as follows:  
 
1. No detail has been provided in respect of the suitability of the existing access in terms of width 
for a shared private drive. A shared private drive should be a minimum of 4.5m wide to enable the 
safe passing of two-way traffic.  
 
2. The proposed car parking provision does not meet the Monmouthshire Car Parking Standards. 
One car parking space is to be provided per bedroom per dwelling with a maximum of three car 
parking spaces per dwelling. In this case three car parking spaces are required for the three-
bedroom dwelling and one car parking space is required for the one-bedroom annexe. It should 
also be noted that integral garage parking is not counted towards the overall car parking provision 
therefore it shall be demonstrated that four car parking spaces can be provided excluding the 
garage parking and including a turning area so that vehicles can enter and exit the site in a 
forward gear. 
 
Further Highways Response 28/1/26 - I have gone through the application again and my last 
comments and unfortunately I have to maintain my stance on this one from a highways 
perspective even though I understand that issues surrounding the Grade II nature of the site. 
Unfortunately we have to maintain our standards regardless as we can’t set a precedent for future 
applications.  
 
As discussed these are our highway observations and recommendations therefore it would be 
down to the Planning Authority to weigh up between the highways and heritage issues associated 
with this site. 
 
MCC Heritage - No objection. 
 

Page 10



The site is a GII* group of greater than special interest, with barns additionally listed GII in their 
own right. The preservation of the special interest and character is therefore the primary concern 
for any Planning Permission within this curtilage under national Planning Policy Wales ed.12. 
 
Whilst there is a degree of rebuilding, the works largely restore the building to former outlines, and 
conversion uses almost entirely historic structures retaining their historic openings and materials. 
Additionally, we have negotiated the clearance of almost all modern structures and extensions that 
currently clutter the site.  
 
Notably the building is one of our higher risk buildings in the recently adopted MCC Buildings at 
Risk strategy and its making good from what is at a perilous condition is very welcomed, 
particularly given the rare and early surviving cruck barn which is proposed for restoration as a 
single space, which is a real rarity in barn conversions. 
 
In short, whilst detail will largely be controlled under the counterpart Listed Building Consent, 
(currently pending approval) there are no objections to the careful restoration of the barns, which 
actively enhances the wider GII* listed group, whilst works will remove the building from the at risk 
category of MCC's action plan. 
 
As the primary consideration in both the planning permission and the LBC is to preserve the 
special interest of the listed building, the changes sought are considered to satisfy these 
requirements on both consents and may be supported, subject to the following conditions being 
added to the planning permission:  
 
- Permitted development rights removed throughout the curtilage 
- Notwithstanding the vertical fencing shown as 'existing' this is not hereby consented 
- Landscaping scheme covering surfacing and any landscape changes proposed, including 
boundaries. 
 
MCC Building Regulations - Fire suppression will need to be installed throughout both converted 
buildings. The objection comment dated 27/10/2025 states the neighbour has a spring that 
provides drinking water to their property, any drainage field would need to be at least 50m from the 
point of abstraction of any groundwater supply.  
 
Previous comments 22/8/25 - The plan indicating the position of the treatment plant appears to be 
7m away from the dwelling, which is acceptable, however any drainage field needs to be a 
minimum of 10m from any dwelling and 2m from any boundary. The position of the drainage field 
indicated on the revised drainage plan is not of an adequate size to construct a drainage field, it is 
also within 2m of the boundary and 10m of both the neighbouring property and the proposed 
dwelling. A detailed drainage scheme should be provided to determine if the drainage field can be 
provided elsewhere within the boundary of the site. (Revised treatment plant details received 
13/10/25) 
 
MCC Environmental Health -  
 
MCC SAB – SAB consent will be required. Drainage to a watercourse is possible, for infiltration, 
porosity tests will be required. 
 
SEWBReC Search Results – Bats, owls and other birds recorded within the vicinity of the site. 
  
5.2 Neighbour Notification 
 
Objection received from New House Farm: 
 

• The current openings are solid doors or doorways currently. The new property will have 
seven new windows which will overlook five rooms in our house and our garden whereas 
currently there is nothing overlooking us at all.   

• A sympathetic renovation would maintain the existing doors rather than replacing them with 
windows. 

Page 11



• Concerned about the likelihood of overshadowing from the development of the Annex, and 
the height of the roof. 

• Echo the concerns raised by MCC Highways in connection with the access to the property.   

• Access is not wide enough to serve three properties and there is insufficient space for 
vehicles to park and turn safely.   

• We are aware of at least one collision having taken place at the entrance to the drive.  

• There is currently parking for a maximum of one car. 

• We own the drive and there is a right of access to pass and repass only over the top 
section of the drive. 

 

• The proposed 'soakaway' is sited directly above our field, which runs to the stream (nearest 
watercourse), so any impact on our already waterlogged field, would need our agreement. 

• The proposed treatment plant has now been relocated closer to the boundary to our land.  
The water will therefore drain directly onto our land due to the gradient of the field. Further 
information about the proposed drainage field and percolation data is essential. 

• New House farm has a spring in the field - concerns about potentially foul water draining 
into our drinking water. 

 
Observation received from The Brambles: 
 

• Due to the high rainfall recently, and 90% of this site being concrete, I would like to know 
where the waste water will be dispersed, as well as any rain and surface water run-off from 
the back of the proposed property. 

 
5.3 Other Representations 
 
None. 
 
5.4 Local Member Representations 
 
County Councillor - No comments received. 
 
6.0 EVALUATION 
 
6.1 Principle of Development 
 
6.1.1 As the site is located in the open countryside, the conversion of the barns falls to be 
considered against LDP Policy H4 which relates to conversions of buildings in the countryside to 
residential use. Policy H4 is a criteria-based policy which requires the following to be met for the 
re-use of the building to be deemed acceptable. Each criteria is assessed in turn: 
 
a) the form, bulk and general design of the proposal, including any extensions, respect the 
rural character and design of the building;  
 
Being grade II listed, the proposed alterations to the barns are also subject to Listed Building 
Consent. As such the design proposals are heritage led. The only extensions proposed are 
modest links between the separate elements. 
 
b) the proposal, including curtilage and access, is in scale and sympathy with the surrounding 
landscape and does not require the provision of unsightly infrastructure and ancillary buildings; 
 
There is no increase to the curtilage and no new outbuildings or changes to the access are 
proposed. 
 
c) rebuilding works, necessitated by poor structural conditions and/ or the need for new 
openings in walls, should not involve substantial reconstruction, with structural surveys being 
required for marginal cases; 
 

Page 12



A Structural Survey submitted with the application demonstrates the building is capable of 
conversion to a residential use subject to some areas of rebuild. The old stables and cruck barn in 
particular, are in a state of disrepair and will require significant repair works. In this case, the 
preservation of the listed buildings is also a key consideration and carries additional weight in 
relation to the extent of rebuild that is considered to be acceptable. 
 
d) the more isolated and prominent the building, the more stringent will be the design 
requirements with regard to new door and window openings, extensions, means of access, service 
provision and garden curtilage, especially if located within the Wye Valley AONB; 
The alterations to the barns should be limited to ensure their rural characteristics are maintained.   
 
No major alterations beyond some rebuilding and link extensions are proposed. 
 
e) buildings of modern and /or utilitarian construction and materials such as concrete block 
work, portal framed buildings clad in metal sheeting or buildings of substandard quality and / or 
incongruous appearance will not be considered favourably for residential conversion. Other 
buildings will be expected to have been used for their intended purpose for a significant period of 
time and particularly close scrutiny will be given to proposals relating to those less than 10 years 
old, especially where there has been no change in activity on the unit; 
 
The buildings are traditional stone barns mainly dating from the 16th Century and have clearly 
been used for their intended purpose for hundreds of years before becoming redundant. 
 
f) the building is capable of providing adequate living space (and ancillary space such as 
garaging) within the structure. Only very modest extensions will be allowed and normal permitted 
development rights to extend further or to construct ancillary buildings will be withdrawn; and 
 
The three barns together are capable of providing adequate living accommodation. The only 
extensions proposed are links between the separate elements. 
 
g) the conversion of buildings that are well suited for business use will not be permitted unless 
the applicant has made every reasonable attempt to secure suitable business use and the 
application is supported by a statement of the efforts that have been made. 
  
The buildings are within a group that includes existing residential dwellings. Business use would 
not be compatible with this existing established use. 
 
It should also be noted that the buildings are on the Council's list of ‘higher risk’ in the recently 
adopted MCC Buildings at Risk Strategy. Making good from what is currently a perilous condition 
is therefore welcomed, particularly given the rare and early surviving cruck barn which is proposed 
for restoration as a single space – a rarity for barn conversions. Furthermore, buildings are set 
close to the public highway and therefore make a significant contribution towards a sense of place 
in the area. Conversion to a viable use will help to ensure the long term retention of the buildings. 
 
6.2 Good Design / Historic Environment 
 
6.2.1 Given the listed designation of the application buildings as well as the wider site, the design 
process has been led by heritage considerations as well as advice from the Council’s Planning 
and Heritage Officers though pre-application advice in 2019.  
 
6.2.2 Taking the three application buildings individually; Y Beudy is a well preserved agricultural 
barn with original roof trusses and masonry walls generally in sound condition. There is an 
external stone staircase leading to the first floor level on the south side. The walls are punctured 
with various different window and door openings and open vent slots. Some of the openings have 
original joinery; doors and window frames, but there is no glass remaining. 
 
6.2.3 The cruck barn is a large building consisting of four bays with thre half crucks supported on 
perimeter masonry walls at mid height. The walls are made of stone, with a blockwork inner lining 

Page 13



to a partially collapsed south gable. The crucks in the cruck barn are mentioned in the listing 
description as the ‘principal interest’ of the building. These are still in situ although suffering due to 
the deteriorating condition of the roof coverings above. The cruck trusses illustrate 16th/17th 
Century construction techniques and the ways in which structural timbers were recycled and 
reused at this time.  
 
6.2.4 For the Old Stables the listing description states: ‘The principal interest of this building is the 
interior. Loft is supported on massive square beams which also support two surviving upper cruck 
trusses.’ This is a description of the central space. Sadly, the roof timbers and beams 
described here have now collapsed onto the ground where they have lain for several years; it is 
therefore likely that they are no longer fit for purpose. There is also some collapse to the perimeter 
walls at high level. 
 
6.2.5 A number of changes are proposed to enable the buildings to be converted for habitable 
accommodation. The main elements are two new link buildings between the cruck barn and Y 
Beudy, the removal of the brick lean-to and new glazed gable end to the cruck barn, new terrace, 
steps and garden store to the south, new windows and doors, PV panels to the south slope of the 
stables, and finally the rebuilding of the stables to accommodate an annex and garage. The two 
proposed new links between the barns have been designed to be visually recessive in terms of 
materials and detailing to ensure that they are in keeping with the existing historic structures, 
whilst also marking them out as new additions. 
 
6.2.6  The roof frame structure of the cruck barn has racked out of plumb by around 700mm and 
unfortunately many of the timbers are damaged. As part of the works, it will therefore be necessary 
to dismantle the roof structure so that it can be repaired and then re-assembled. Internally, this 
building will then be retained as a single space within the proposed new dwelling. The existing 
gable end to the barn is in an advanced state of disrepair and as noted in the Structural Engineer’s 
report, there is severe movement and collapse of up to 50% of the wall. Therefore the wall needs 
to be dismantled and rebuilt as part of the works. The extent of rebuild in the context of the wider 
site is considered to be acceptable in principle. It is proposed that the new wall is built in a more 
modern design, with timber, steel and glass. This will bring light into the space and connect the 
main living space with the terrace, garden and landscape beyond. 
 
6.2.7 The brick lean-to on the cruck barn does not feature on any of the historic maps as it is a 
recent 20th Century brick addition with a corrugated asbestos roof. The building is in poor condition 
and is considered to have ‘negligible’ historic value. The removal of this building will also reveal 
more of the original north-west elevation of the cruck barn which is considered to be a positive 
impact on the character of the building. 
 
6.2.8 The stables are also in an advanced state of disrepair. Where feasible, the existing masonry 
will be retained, but due to the instability of some of the walls, some rebuilding will be necessary. 
Again, the extend of this rebuilding is considered to be acceptable within the context. The upper 
part of the stables will be modified to become an open-fronted garage with a new corrugated metal 
roof. The central space will form the main living accommodation for the proposed annex. Two new 
openings are proposed in the east gable at ground floor level to give access to the link to the 
cruck barn and to the south terrace. A further new opening will be formed in the south wall to make 
a connection through to the southern space.  
 
6.2.9 The position and scale of all of the existing openings across all three barns will be retained 
and respected in the proposals. It is proposed to install new timber windows and doors to achieve 
the appropriate standards to satisfy Building Regulations. 
 
6.2.10 A proposed new terrace, steps and garden store on the south side of the cruck barn are 
proposed to make the buildings work as a single dwelling (and associated annex) in relation to 
level changes and external landscaping to the south. This area has been designed to minimise the 
impact on the historic significance of the barns. The proposed new openings in the masonry wall at 
lower ground level reference other existing openings to the barns, and will consist of brick lintels 
and boarded timber doors. 
 

Page 14



6.2.11 On the basis of the above, overall, it is considered that the proposals retain the agricultural  
aesthetic of the buildings, whilst providing them with a new viable use. The layout, scale, massing 
and proportion of the buildings are considered to be retained with minimal loss to historic fabric. As 
such the proposed conversion is considered to respect the character, appearance and fabric of the 
listed buildings and also meets the requirements of LDP Policies H4 and DES1 in terms of design 
and visual impact.  
 
6.3 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
6.3.1 The nearest neighbouring occupiers to the application barns are at New House Farm (the 
main historic farmhouse) and The Brambles (a previously converted barn within the group). There 
is a distance of at least 17m between the north-west elevations of the application buildings and the 
south-east elevation of New House Farm. The only openings in the Old Stables which is the 
structure closest to this neighbouring dwelling will serve a stairwell and a parking area. Distances 
between New House Farm and the cruck barn and Y Beudy where habitable windows are 
proposed is at least 22m which is above the 21m that is normally considered to be adequate to 
protect neighbour amenity. 
 
6.3.2 To the south-east is the property known as The Brambles. Distances between elevations 
with habitable windows within the proposed barn conversion and this property are lower at 
between 13m and 17m. However, in this case views are at ground floor only and interrupted by 
existing stone walls. 
 
6.3.3 Whilst introducing a residential use where historically there was not one, may result in an 
increase in perceived overlooking, for the reasons set out above there would be no loss of privacy.  
 
6.3.4 In terms of any additional overbearing impact or loss of light, the vast majority of the 
structures are already in situ and therefore there will be no change. There will be a small amount 
of rebuild of the roofs of the cruck barn and the old stables. However, the change will be negligible 
when viewed from the neighbouring dwellings. 
 
6.3.5 In terms of the proposed foul drainage, as there is no public sewer available within the 
vicinity of the site, a Private Treatment Plant (PTO) is proposed to deal with foul waste from the 
new dwelling. As such, Welsh Government Circular 008/2018 (Planning requirement in respect of 
the use of private sewerage in new development, incorporating septic tanks and small sewage 
treatment plants) 2018 applies. This provides that the assessment of private drainage proposals 
should include consideration of any evidence which indicates the proposed arrangements and the 
associated effluent disposal system is likely to lead to a risk to public health or cause a nuisance. 
PTPs treat effluent to a higher standard than septic tank systems and in this case, the specific 
PTP proposed meets recognised environmental standards in terms of effluent. Following 
amendments to the siting of the PTP and drainage field, it is now also expected to meet the 
requirements of Part H of the Building Regulations so as to avoid any potential issues in relation to 
noise or odour. On the basis that the Building Regulations will be met and having received no 
objections from the Council’s Environmental Health Team in this respect, it is reasonable to 
conclude that the proposed foul drainage arrangements will have no adverse impact on local 
amenity. 
 
6.3.5 On the basis of the above it is considered that the application complies with LDP policies 
EP1 and DES1. 
 
6.4 Access / Highway Safety 
 
6.4.1 The site is accessed from a county classified highway recorded as R33 and is located 
approximately 1.44km south of the nearest main arterial route B4521. The R33 between the site 
and the B4521 is a typical rural single carriageway. The site is accessed is shared with 
neighbouring property New House Farm. It is proposed to retain this existing vehicular access 
from the road to the barns. 
 

Page 15



6.4.2 The width of this drive is approximately 3.65m at its narrowest point from verge to verge. The 
width between built structures on either side of the drive at the entrance off the road is 6.04m. The 
barns and farmhouse have been under separate ownership for many years but the drive has 
historically accommodated traffic to both properties. Given the building group's II* listed status it 
considered that the highway standard for the width of the shared access should be relaxed in this 
case from 4.5m. An increase in the width of the access drive would adversely impact the historic 
character of the group. 
 
6.4.3 The plans show three car parking spaces within the red-line boundary of the site together 
with an additional space in the proposed garage. There is space to turn and therefore exit in a 
forward gear, within the red line. The Council’s Highway Engineer raised concerns around the 
suitability of the existing access, and the number of car parking spaces. In terms of parking, 
Monmouthshire’s Adopted Parking Guidelines require one space per bedroom (up to a maximum 
of 3). As an Annex is not considered as a separate dwelling, dedicated parking for this would not 
be appropriate.  
 
6.4.4 Highways also state that the proposed garage cannot be counted as a parking space. 
Although this is usually the case, the garage is open fronted and unconnected internally to any 
other part of the buildings. Conversion to habitable accommodation would not therefore be 
appealing to any future occupiers. Furthermore, any works to either enclose the space or link it 
internally, would be controlled due to the building being listed.  
 
6.4.5 On the basis of the above, it is considered that the application is acceptable, notwithstanding 
the advice from the Highway Authority. 
 
6.5 Green Infrastructure 
 
6.5.1 Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 12 highlights that a Green Infrastructure (GI) 
statement should be submitted with all planning applications and will be proportionate to the scale 
and nature of the development. The statement which will need to be informed by a GI assessment 
of the site will describe how green infrastructure will be incorporated into the proposal and how the 
step wise approach to protecting biodiversity, habitats and GI onsite will be managed.  A step wise 
approach considers what impacts may occur as a result of development activity to any identified 
biodiversity, habitats and green infrastructure assets and networks that may be present on or 
bounding a site. The approach then seeks to manage any harm that may occur by (a) avoiding (b) 
minimising (c) Mitigate / Restore. 
 
6.5.2 The GI Statement submitted with the application provides that the wider landscape beyond 
the site comprises arable and pastoral fields with mature native hedgerows and woodlands. Within 
the site itself, there are no mature hedgerows or trees, the area historically having been used as a 
farmyard. There is however, scrub and vegetation that has grown within and around the barns 
since they stopped being used and fell into a state of disrepair. The proposals include the creation 
of a significant garden/ green space around the barns to the south and west of the barns. This will 
incorporate many beneficial biodiversity features including: 
 
• Native hedgerow and fruit tree planting 
• Wildlife friendly planting 
• Hedgehog highways along close-boarded fencing to the boundary with Newhouse farmhouse 
• Hedgehog boxes 
• Invertebrate habitat features including insect bricks 
• Four artificial bird boxes 
• Three swallow cups 
• One house sparrow terrace 
• One owl box 
• Three bat boxes 
• A specific loft void for bats in the new roof space. 
 

Page 16



It is therefore considered that stepwise approach as required has been followed. These features 
have been shown on drawing no. 1997_40B meaning that their implementation can be secured via 
condition should Members be minded to approve the application.  
 
6.6 Biodiversity 
 
6.6.1 An Ecological Impact Assessment Report (Aware Ecology, August 2024) has been submitted 
to support the application. Bat surveys have been completed in accordance with best practice 
guidance. Roosts for relatively small numbers of pipistrelle and long-eared bats were recorded 
within the barns. It is noted that the site could be a small subsidiary roost for a nearby pipistrelle 
maternity roost. The submitted ecological report and plans shows the required mitigation for bat 
roosts. The plan will be suitable to be conditioned should Members be minded to approve the 
application. All external lighting will need to be sensitively designed in accordance with Bats and 
Artificial Lighting in the UK (ILP, 2023). Lighting should only be installed where absolutely 
necessary and should be downward-facing, wall mounted and fitted with PIR sensors and short 
duration timers. A condition to ensure a sensitive external lighting scheme is therefore also 
recommended. 
 
6.6.2 As European Protected Species (bats / otters / dormice / great crested newts) will be 
affected by the development and it has been established that a derogation licence from Natural 
Resources Wales will be required to implement the consent. Monmouthshire County Council as 
Local Planning Authority is required to have regard to the Conservation of Species & Habitat 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) and to the fact that derogations are only allowed where the three 
tests set out in Article 16 of the Habitats Directive are met.  The three tests have been considered 
in consultation with NRW and the Council’s Biodiversity Officer as follows:  
 
(i) The derogation is in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial 
consequences of primary importance for the environment.  
 
Converting the redundant building which is of historical importance to a viable use is in the public 
interest. 
  
(ii) There is no satisfactory alternative  
 
The development is necessarily site specific. 
 
(iii) The derogation is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the species 
concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.  
 
NRW have confirmed that they consider that the development is not likely to be detrimental to the 
maintenance of the population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in its 
natural range, provided the measures set out in the submitted ecology report are implemented. 
 
6.6.3 A range of nesting birds including barn swallow and potentially tawny owl was found within 
the barns. The location of the proposed compensatory features for nesting birds has also been 
shown on a site plan and is considered to be acceptable. 
 
6.6.4 PPW 12 sets out that the planning system has a key role to play in helping to reverse the 
decline in biodiversity and increase the resilience of ecosystems, at various scales, by ensuring 
appropriate mechanisms are in place to. It is clear that planning system should ensure that overall 
there is a net benefit for biodiversity and ecosystem resilience, resulting in enhanced wellbeing. 
 
As part of the proposed works, ecological enhancements will be introduced to include:  
 

• 4 no. integrated / external bat boxes; 

• Bat loft and external bat crevices; 

• 4 no. bird boxes; 

• 2 no. swallow cups; 

Page 17



• 1 no. owl box; 

• insect bricks; and  

• native species planting in the garden. 
 
6.6.5 Under the Habitats Regulations, where a plan or project is likely to have a significant effect 
on a European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, and where it is not 
directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site, the competent authority must 
carry out an appropriate assessment of the implication of the plan or project in view of the site's 
conservation objectives. Natural Resources Wales has set new nutrient standards for the river 
SACs in Wales. Any proposed development within the SAC catchments that might increase the 
amount of nutrient within the catchment could lead to additional damaging effects to the SAC 
features and therefore such proposals must be screened through a HRA to determine whether 
they are likely to have a significant effect on the SAC condition. 
 
6.6.6 This application has been screened in accordance with Natural Resources Wales' advice for 
planning applications within the river Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) catchments (v4 issued 
28th June 2024). It is considered that this development is unlikely to increase nutrient inputs. A 
private treatment plant is proposed where the system discharges domestic wastewater to ground, 
built to the relevant British Standard (BS 6297:2007+A1:2008) and meets all the following criteria: 
 

• the maximum daily discharge rate is less than 2 cubic metres (m3)  

• the drainage field is located more than 40m from any surface water feature such as a 
river, stream, ditch or drain  

• the drainage field is located more than 50m from a SAC boundary  

• the drainage field is least 50m from any other known discharge to ground. 
 
6.7 Response to the Representations of Third Parties and/or Community/Town Council 
 
6.7.1 An objection comment states that the neighbour has a spring that provides drinking water to 
their property. As such, any drainage field would need to be at least 50m from the point of 
abstraction of any groundwater supply. The location of this spring is unknown but this aspect will 
be checked for compliance with the Building Regulations 2010 on submission of a formal Building 
Regulations application should the development proceed. 
 
6.7.2 All other concerns raised by third parties have been addressed above in this report. 
 
6.8 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
6.8.1 The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales 
has been considered, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). In reaching this 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into 
account and it is considered that this recommendation is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers' well-
being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
6.9 Conclusion 
 
6.9.1 The conversion of the listed group of barns to a single dwelling is acceptable in principle 
under LDP Policy H4. 
 
6.9.2 The heritage-led design is considered to be in keeping with the character and appearance of 
the existing buildings, the listed group and the wider landscape. 
 
6.9.3 There will be no significant adverse impact on local residential amenity as a result of the 
development. 
 
6.9.4 There is off-site parking provision for three vehicles which will be able to enter and leave the 
site in a forward gear. Widening the existing access drive to meet common standards would 

Page 18



adversely affect the character and appearance of the listed group of buildings and is not 
considered to be appropriate or necessary in this case. 
 
6.9.5 Adverse impacts on biodiversity can be mitigated. Suitable enhancements are also 
proposed. The step-wise approach to Green Infrastructure has also been followed in accordance 
with PPW12. 
 
6.9.6 The proposed foul drainage will have no adverse impact on the River SAC or the amenity of 
any neighbouring occupiers. 
 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE 
 
Conditions: 
 
1 This development shall be begun within 5 years from the date of this permission. 
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the list of approved plans set out 
in the table below. 
REASON: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved drawings, for 
the avoidance of doubt. 
 
3 No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate programme of 
historic building recording and analysis has been secured and implemented in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
REASON: To ensure the development meet the terms of the Historic Environment (Wales ) Act 
2016, PPW and Technical Advice Note 24 (TAN 24): The Historic Environment. 
 
4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 1 Classes A B C D E F & H of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(Amendment)(Wales) Order 
2013 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no 
enlargements, improvements or other alterations to the dwellinghouse or any outbuildings shall be 
erected or constructed. 
REASON: If substantial extensions or alterations were necessary this development would not 
normally be favourably considered and would be contrary to LDP Policy H4. 
 
5 No part of any wall of the existing building other than shown on the approved plans is to be 
demolished . 
REASON: This conversion is granted having regard to LDP Policy H4 which relates to the 
conversion of redundant buildings in the countryside and the information supplied with the 
application.  If substantial demolition and rebuilding are necessary the development may be 
beyond that which has been permitted. 
 
 
 6 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 1995 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no fence, wall or other means of 
enclosure other than any approved under this permission shall be erected or placed without the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to safeguard the appearance of the area and to 
ensure compliance with LDP Policy H4. 
 
7 All works shall be undertaken in strict accordance with Sections 4.5 and 4.6 of the 
Ecological Impact Assessment Report Aware Ecology, August 2024, Reference AE0036/2/1 
(Version 1) and drawing 1997_40B. If any changes to the methodology are required, a revised 
method statement shall be submitted to and confirmed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
In addition, further details of a precautionary method statement for reptiles shall be submitted to 

Page 19



and agreed in writing before works commence. Works will then be implemented in strict 
accordance with the approved Method Statements. 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended) and Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) regarding protected 
species, and to ensure compliance with LDP Policy NE1. 
 
8 All works shall proceed in accordance with proposed measures to benefit biodiversity as 
shown on drawing no. 1997_40B and as detailed in Section 4.6 of the Ecological Impact 
Assessment Report (Aware Ecology, August 2024) and the Green Infrastructure Statement. 
Evidence of implementation of measures to achieve net benefit for biodiversity must be provided to 
the LPA no more than three months later than the first beneficial use of the development. 
REASON: To provide biodiversity net benefit and ensure compliance with PPW 12, the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and LDP policy NE1. 
 
9 Notwithstanding the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no lighting or 
lighting fixtures shall be installed until an appropriate lighting plan which includes low level PIR 
lighting and allows dark corridors for bats has been agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. Lighting shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved lighting plan. 
REASON: To safeguard roosting and foraging/commuting habitat of Species of Conservation 
Concern in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) and LDP policies NE1 and EP3. 
 
10 No development shall take place until full details of hard landscaping works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall be 
carried out prior to the beneficial use of the approved development commencing.  
REASON: To protect the setting of the listed buildings and to ensure the long term maintenance of 
the landscape amenities of the area and to ensure compliance with LDP Policy GI1. 
 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
 1 Due to the minor nature of the proposed development (including any demolition) and the 
location of the proposed development, it is considered that the proposals did not need to be 
screened under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations. 
 
 2 Warning: A European protected species (EPS) Licence is required for this development. 
This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that require an EPS 
licence. 
It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly damage or destroy their 
breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could be sent to prison for up 
to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. 
To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need for a licence 
from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at 
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-
species/?lang+en 
 
3 As of 7th January 2019, all construction work in Wales with drainage implications, of 100m² 
or more, is now required to have Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to manage on-site 
surface water (whether they require planning permission or not). These SuDS must be designed 
and constructed in accordance with the Welsh Government Standards for Sustainable Drainage. 
 
The SuDS Approving Body (SAB) is a service delivered by the Local Authority to ensure that 
drainage proposals for all new developments of at least 2 properties OR over 100m² of 
construction area are fit for purpose, designed and built in accordance with the National Standards 
for Sustainable Drainage published by Welsh Ministers.  
 
If you are in any doubt as to whether you require SAB approval, please contact: 
 

Page 20

https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-species/?lang+en
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-species/?lang+en


SAB@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
For advice regarding the application process and general enquiries - 01495 768306 
 
For technical advice regarding your SuDS design and meeting the National Standards - 01633 
644730 
 
4 All birds are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The protection also covers 
their nests and eggs. To avoid breaking the law, do not carry out work on trees, hedgerows or 
buildings where birds are nesting. The nesting season for most birds is between March and 
September. 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Application 
Number: 

DM/2024/01537 
 

 
Proposal: 

 
Development of a restaurant with drive-thru facility (Use Class A3) including 
access, servicing, car parking, hard and soft landscaping and other associated 
works 

 
Address: 

 
Land At Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate, Chepstow, Monmouthshire  
 

Applicant: East Mon Industrial Holdings Ltd. 
 

Plans: 
 

All Existing Plans 8335-SA-2464-AL03 - ,  Elevations - Proposed 8335-SA-2464-
P005 - B,  Tree Protection Plan EDP8922_D002 - D, EDP8922_r005b 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan , Landscaping Plan 
EDP8922_R002 Rev B- , Landscape Visual Impact Assessment Part 1 and Part 
2, 8335-SA-2464-AL01C - , Other GI Statement EDP8922_R004B - , Other 
PLANNING STATEMENT - , Other COMMERCIAL MARKET AND 
EMPLOYMENT LAND POSITION STATEMENT - , Other ODOUR CONTROL 
ASSESSMENT - , Other EDP8922_R001-B - , Other EDP8922_R002B - , 
Ecology Report EDP8922_R003-B - , Other DELIVERY MANAGEMENT PLAN 
Part 1, Part 2, Part 3 - , Other REPORT ON A GROUND INVESTIGATION - , 
Other STORE TRAVEL PLAN FOR MCDONALDS RESTAURANT - , Other 
TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT –ADL Traffic and Highway Part 1,2,3,4,5 , Other 
COMMUNITY CONSULTATION STATEMENT - , Other PHASE I 
CONTAMINATIVE USES DESK STUDY - , All Proposed Plans 501682049 –
Proposed Lighting Layout REV 0,  Site Layout 8335-SA-2464-P004C  - , Other 
PRODUCT SHEET 1 - BBA_GABIONS_16_H247 PROD, Block Plan 8335-SA-
2464-P002B  Site Levels 4240325 - 1100 - P3 - PROPOSED LEVELS PLAN, 
Landscaping Plan EDP8922_D011-D - SOFT LANDSCAPE PLAN, Landscaping 
Plan EDP8922_D010-D - HARD LANDSCAPE PLAN, Other REV.03A - TDS UK 
TERRAMESH SYSTEM, Site Levels 4240325 - 1102 - P2 - PROPOSED 
LEVELS SECTIONS, Location Plan 8335-SA-2464-AL01E- SITE LOCATION 
PLAN, Other 5353-201 - VEHICLE TRACKING - HGV, Site Levels 4240325 - 
1101 - P3 - PROPOSED LEVELS SECTIONS, Floor Plans - Proposed  8335-
SA-2464-P006 - PROPOSED FLOOR AND ROOF – 501682049 Proposed 
Lighting Layout  

 
RECOMMENDATION: Refuse 
 
Case Officer: Ms Jo Draper 
Date Valid: 13.12.2024 
 
This application is presented to Planning Committee at the request of the Local Member. 
 
1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
1.1 Site Description 
 
1.1 The site extends to approximately 0.9ha and currently comprises an area of grassland 
 within the Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate, adjacent to the M48 Chepstow Roundabout (junction 
2). Due to the site's topography, it sits above the rest of the Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate but 
substantially below the road and the land beyond it to the north. 
 
1.2 The site is bounded by: 
To the North: Loverose Way and beyond this, open land which is subject to an approved planning 
application for fuel station, two drive-thru's and B2/B8 space (application ref.: DM/2022/01155). 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4b



To the South: the wider Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate 
To the East: An area of trees and shrubs and beyond this, the M48 Chepstow Junction and 
motorway and pedestrian footpath linking to the Wales Coast Path and the community of 
Thornwell. 
To the West: A small area of open land between Loverose Way and the Newhouse Farm Industrial 
Estate and beyond this, Loverose Way. 
 
There is a shared pedestrian/cycleway running through the site. This is not registered as a Public 
Right of Way (PROW) but is well used and provides a direct link from the Newhouse Farm 
Industrial Estate to the Residential community of Thornwell and beyond. 
 
The Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate comprises B1 (office/R&D/Light industrial), B2 (General 
Industry),and B8 (Storage and Distribution) uses. To the north-east of the site, is the settlement of 
Chepstow, with the Thornwell and Bulwark areas being the closest residential communities.  
The site mostly comprises a plateau, a green wedge south of the access road (Loverose Way) 
adjoining the M48 motorway. The application contains several existing trees at its margins as well 
as a large area of grass. There is an unrecorded public right of way that intersects the site (and 
adjacent industrial warehouses), typically travelling in an east-west direction, before heading 
beneath the M48 bridge.  The application site due to the proximity to the nearby embankment, 
road corridors and tree belts create a visual sense of enclosure to the north, east and west, the 
embankment, and M48 road corridor, screening views to and from the site in these directions. 
There are two mature tree belts along the northern boundary; a break in the belts allow for distant 
views towards the English Channel and Severn Estuary. To the south, the site lies close to large 
scale logistics depots and industrial development sheds and here the land levels drop towards the 
industrial sheds and containers immediately outside of the site boundary. 
 
1.2 Value Added 
 
Amendments to location of bike shed. 
 
1.3 Proposal Description 
 
It is proposed to redevelop the site to provide a 371sqm (GEA) single storey McDonald's 
restaurant with tandem drive thru facilities located in the north-east corner of the site and a dual 
drive-thru lane wrapping around the north of the restaurant. 
There is parking provided to the south of the site comprising 47 car parking spaces, including four 
accessible bays, two with electric vehicle charging points (one of which is accessible) and two 
reserve bays for drive-thru customers. There are 10 cycle parking spaces proposed (including six 
covered ‘Sheffield’ stands and a dual cycle locker). A dedicated delivery area is proposed. 
 
The customer area within the restaurant will measure 92sqm and provide 76 seats. The supporting 
information states that the restaurant will use a modern palette of materials including a timber 
effect and dark grey cladding panel. External materials comprise vertical grey and timber cladding. 
Supporting information states that this reflects the McDonalds branding.  
 
The proposed vehicular access to the site will be provided via Loverose Way, via a new junction. A 
new internal access road will be constructed to facilitate access and egress to the site which will 
provide direct access to the drive-thru lane and car parking area. 
Pedestrian and cycle access will be provided from the underpass connecting the Industrial Estate 
to Thornwell and Bulwark. It is proposed that the pathway that currently runs through the site will 
be rerouted and formalised as a right of way to include cycle use. Where this route rejoins the 
existing cycle route, as designed it creates a dog-leg and a gap between the two. A legal order has 
been agreed to be undertaken to move the unrecorded public right of way onto the proposed 
alignment. As part of the Transport Assessment, wider improvement to the Coast Path is proposed 
outside the red line boundary with additional lighting to run along the stretch of that path from the 
application site to the underpass. This has not been submitted with any level of detail; the final 
detail is proposed to be resolved through a S106 agreement or through a Grampian condition as 
these works would be offsite works, offered by the applicant as a wider benefit of the planning 
permission.  

Page 24



 
There is planting and soft landscaping proposed comprising turf, hedges and low-level shrubs to 
the perimeter of the site. It is proposed to maintain most of the trees on site.  Several scattered 
mature trees are located within the site boundary and twelve trees will be removed as a result of 
the proposal. To mitigate for the loss of these trees, the GI Statement states that this is to be 
replaced with a minimum of 36 broadleaved trees. There would also be 41 whips to be planted to 
mitigate for clearance of 0.0245ha of land. 
 
It is proposed that retained amenity grassland and poor semi-improved grassland will be 
enhanced, creating areas of species-rich meadow grassland to be located at the northern and 
southern boundaries of the site. Other habitat on site includes patches of semi-improved 
grassland, scrub and a drainage ditch. An attenuation pond will be provided in the south-west 
corner and surface water from the site will be drained to and disposed of from this pond, with the 
outfall route included with the extended red line area to the west of the main site.  
 
The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) which has been prepared by ADL, 
the primary data has included and extrapolated from that used for the neighbouring site, and 
considers the impact on the M48 roundabout, and how the new access junction will interact with 
the proposed access junction for the neighbouring site. 
 
The applicant has undertaken a public engagement exercise. A total of 600 responses were 
received during the consultation period.  
 
A Commercial Market and Employment Land Position Statement has been submitted with this 
application. This report covers how the application has been marketed. CBRE have acted for East 
Mon Industrial Holdings Ltd (the owners of Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate) in respect of the 
estate since 2016 and it is stated that they have actively (and continuously) marketed development 
plots (including the application site) since July 2019.   
According to this statement, the plots marketed included a single plot of 6 acres as well as smaller 
opportunities such as the application site. CBRE have promoted the available plots through 
marketing boards, production and distribution of marketing material and online promotion. An 
electronic version of the marketing brochure has been issued to commercial property agents active 
in South Wales and the South West; Welsh Government; local occupiers; and major logistics and 
manufacturing occupiers. Online Promotion has been supported by a full Web-Advertising 
package, which includes listings on CBRE's website. According to this statement, occupier interest 
in the application site (or interest in the wider industrial estate for land/premises of a size that could 
be accommodated by the application site) has been very limited. Ten potentially suitable enquiries 
were logged by CBRE over a five-year period. The report states that it is understood that CBRE 
received no response from prospective occupiers when following up on five of the ten enquiries. It 
is suggested that these enquiries were general rather than site-specific. 
 
This application is supported by the following suite of reports, as follows: 
Planning Statement   
Design and Access Statement 
Community Consultation Report  
Economic Operator Statement  
Commercial Market and Employment Land Position Statement 
Transport Assessment 
Travel Plan 
Delivery Management Plan 
Ecological Appraisal 
Green Infrastructure Statement 
Arboricultural Method Statement 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
Lighting Strategy 
Odour Control Report 
Ground Investigation Report 
Phase 1 Contaminative Uses Desk Study. 

Page 25



 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (if any) 
 
Reference 
Number 

Description Decision Decision Date 

   
DM/2024/00870 Discharge of condition 17 relating to 

planning DM/2022/01155. Landscape 
parcel 1.  

Approved 06.08.2024 

  
DM/2024/00884 Discharge of condition 12 (Green 

Infrastructure Management Plan) for 
planning decision DM/2022/01155. 

Approved 06.08.2024 

  
DM/2024/01042 Discharge of condition 18 (Pedestrian 

crossing) for planning decision 
DM/2022/01155. 

Approved 02.10.2024 

  
DM/2024/01043 Discharge of condition 19 (Details of 

the electric vehicle charging points) 
for planning decision DM/2022/01155. 

Approved 02.10.2024 

  
DM/2024/01046 Discharge of condition 5 (Written 

Scheme of Historic Environment 
Mitigation) for planning decision 
DM/2022/01155. 

Approved 16.10.2024 

  
DM/2024/01047 Discharge of conditions 6 

(Excavations with associated Risk 
Assessments / Method Statements 
(RAMS)) and 10(Details of 
earthworks/ mounding/ Contouring) 
for planning decision DM/2022/01155. 
  

Pending 
Consideration 

 

  
DM/2024/01352 Discharge of condition 8 (Drainage 

Scheme) of planning decision 
DM/2022/01155. 

Approved 07.02.2025 

  
DM/2024/01537 Development of a restaurant with 

drive-thru facility (Use Class A3) 
including access, servicing, car 
parking, hard and soft landscaping 
and other associated works 

Pending 
Determination 

 

  
DM/2025/01121 Discharge of Conditions 14 in relation 

to planning decision (DM2022/01155) 

 
04.02.2026 

  

Page 26



DM/2025/01390 Hybrid application comprising: 
1) Full planning for the erection of a 
roadside facility comprising PRS, 2no. 
drive thru units and associated 
development; and 
2) Outline application for storage and 
distribution / logistics or industrial / 
manufacturing floor space and 
associated development (B2/B8 use 
class). 
  

Pending 
Consideration 

 

  
DM/2025/01462 Discharge of condition 14 ref 

DM/2022/01155 CEMP produced by 
AKN 

Pending 
Consideration 

 

  
DM/2025/01467 1) Int-Illum 9mtr Totem 2) Int-Illum 

Directional Sign 3) Int-Illum Height 
Restrictor 4) Int-Illum Preview Menu 
5) Int-Illum Speaker Canopy 6) Int-
Illum Triple Menu 7) Int-Illum 255mm 
Wordmark 8) Non-Illum Drive Thru 
Window Vinyl x 3 9) Int-Illum 1500mm 
Roundel 10) Int-Illum Drive Thru 
Lettering 11) Int-Illum 1500mm 
Roundel 12) Int-Illum Drive Thru 
Lettering 13) Int-Illum Thank You/No 
Entry Directional Sign 14) Int-Illum 
305mm Wordmark 15) Non-Illum 
Mobile Order Graphic 16a) Non-Illum 
15mtrs. Window Manifestations 
(950mm from floor level) 16b) Non-
Illum 15mtrs. Window Manifestations 
(1500mm from floor level) 17) Non-
Illum Banner Frame 

Pending 
Consideration 

 

             
 
3.0 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Strategic Policies 
 
S6 LDP Retail Hierarchy 
S7 LDP Infrastructure Provision 
S8 LDP Enterprise and Economy 
S9 LDP Employment Sites Provision 
S12 LDP Efficient Resource Use and Flood Risk 
S13 LDP Landscape, Green Infrastructure and the Natural Environment 
S17 LDP Place Making and Design 
SAE2 LDP Protected Employment Sites 
 
Development Management Policies 
 
DES1 LDP General Design Considerations 
EP1 LDP Amenity and Environmental Protection 
GI1 LDP Green Infrastructure 
NE1 LDP Nature Conservation and Development 
RET4 LDP New Retail Proposals 
E1 LDP Protection of Existing Employment 

Page 27



SD1 LDP Renewable Energy 
SD2 LDP Sustainable Construction and Energy Efficiency 
SD4 LDP Sustainable Drainage 
LC5 LDP Protection and Enhancement of Landscape Character 
EP3 LDP Lighting 
MV1 LDP Proposed Developments and Highway Considerations 
MV2 LDP Sustainable Transport Access 
MV3 LDP Public Rights of Way 
 
4.0 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 
Future Wales - the national plan 2040 
 
Future Wales is the national development framework, setting the direction for development in 
Wales to 2040. It is a development plan with a strategy for addressing key national priorities 
through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 
decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health 
and well-being of our communities. Future Wales - the national plan 2040 is the national 
development framework and it is the highest tier plan , setting the direction for development in 
Wales to 2040. It is a framework which will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a 
regional level and Local Development Plans. Planning decisions at every level of the planning 
system in Wales must be taken in accordance with the development plan as a whole. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 12 
 
The primary objective of PPW is to ensure that the planning system contributes towards the 
delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, as required by the Planning (Wales) Act 2015, the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and other key legislation and resultant 
duties such as the Socio-economic Duty. 
 
A well-functioning planning system is fundamental for sustainable development and achieving 
sustainable places.  PPW promotes action at all levels of the planning process which is conducive 
to maximising its contribution to the well-being of Wales and its communities. 
 
Technical Advice Notes 
 
Technical Advice Note 4: Retail and Commercial Development. 
 
 
5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
5.1 Consultation Replies 
 
Chepstow Town Council: Objection 
Re-consultation on amended plans have been received - responding to landscaping and further 
information provided regarding economic viability. Chepstow Town Council's objection to this 
planning application still stands and notes that Monmouthshire County Council's Active Travel 
share the Town Council's concerns. 
The Town Council welcomes the potential for new jobs however recommends refusal for the 
following reason(s):  
1. Road safety concerns as the issue over pedestrian access has not been addressed, the safe 
route is outside the report which will result in pedestrians using a dangerous main road / 
roundabout to access the site.  
2. Not satisfied that the active travel has been addressed as it is too narrowly focussed.  
3. Concerns over the loss of green space - this area is heavily used by runners, and this 
development would mean a significant loss to green space (DES1). recommends refusal for the 
following reason(s): In addition, the Council has taken on board the comments made by the 
Aneurin Bevan Health Board which it finds persuasive. 

Page 28



 
MCC Tree Officer: No objection 
Site of many trees with very few mature trees of significant value. Most trees are situated on the 
border of the site. The proposal is to maintain most of the trees. 
Seven trees are to be crown reduced which is acceptable. The 12 trees that are proposed to be 
removed are all young and some semi-mature to be replaced with a minimum of 36 broadleaved 
trees and planting 41 whips to mitigate for clearance of 0.0245ha of land. They are mainly ash, 
horse chestnut and some young oak trees. There are no Cat A trees on site. 
 
MCC Public Transport Officer: Objection 
The development is not served by public transport. Planning Policy Wales sets out a transport 
hierarchy, which puts public transport at second priority after active travel. It states that "proposals 
must seek to maximise accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport, by prioritising the 
provision of appropriate on-site infrastructure and, where necessary, mitigating transport impacts 
through the provision of off-site measures, such as the development of active travel routes, bus 
priority infrastructure and financial" (4.1.11). Section 4.1.17 gives further practical examples of how 
this should be done"… then consider whether new development could be located near a bus stop 
or enable improvements to the bus service; before finally considering the needs of private motor 
vehicles, including measures". MCC planning policy (S16) states that "Where appropriate, all 
development proposals shall promote sustainable, safe forms of transport which reduce the need 
to travel, increase provision for walking and cycling and improve public transport provision. This 
will be facilitated by:  
- Reducing the need to travel, especially by car;  
- Favouring development close to public transport facilities;  
- Promoting public transport, walking and cycling; …"  
The proposed development site is not accessible by public transport. As set out in the transport 
assessment, the walk distance to the nearest bus stop is more than 800m. This is twice of the 
commonly accepted maximum distance to a bus stop of 400m, after which usage drops off 
dramatically. Furthermore the transport assessment does not include any proposals for doing 
something about the lack of public transport accessibility. It does include any proposals to 
maximising accessibility by public transport as required by PPW, neither does it promote improved 
public transport provision as required by the MCC LDP. 
 
MCC Public Rights of Way (PROW): Qualified Objection. 
Comments on the revised plans submitted on the 5th June 2025. A number of discussions have 
already taken place in regard to the site and the unrecorded public right of way, the proposed new 
route is as discussed and for the most part satisfactory. However, we have serious concerns in 
regard to where the new constructed route joins into the existing infrastructure on the west side of 
the site. The new alignment for the footpath is to be constructed to a standard to accept cycle use, 
however, where this route rejoins the existing cycle route, it looks to create both a dog-leg and a 
gap between the two. A legal order has been agreed to be undertaken to move the unrecorded 
public right of way onto the proposed alignment, should planning be approved, no construction 
should take place until an application to move the unrecorded route has been confirmed. 
 
MCC Highways:  
2025/06/26 - We raise no further comments regarding the public highway; however, we would 
restate our comments regarding the interaction between the internal layout & AT access to echo 
those of the AT team. It is expected that visitors travelling from the south along the footpath will 
cross over the barrier instead of walk around the site, because that will be the shortest and 
quickest route. This should be considered, and we would recommend an appropriate path included 
in the interests of safety within the car park.  
 
2025/05/07 - The applicant has provided additional detail, namely showing an amendment in 
response to our concerns over junction width, which has now been altered to allow access for 
HGV's without impeding exiting traffic. We raise no further concerns over the proposal. Should the 
Planning Authority approve the application we would request the following condition applied to any 
grant of planning permission or included in a Section 106 Agreement. 
 

Page 29



While there remain concerns over the Active Travel route for this site as per the neighbouring 
application, the link proposed is acceptable on balance since we are unable to promote pedestrian 
routes towards the M48 junction. A pedestrian survey was undertaken showing that very few 
pedestrians attempt to cross the M48 junction, with 23 out of 792 movements (2.9%) recorded 
during a three-day period, excluding the extraneous Saturday Park-run results. 
We would recommend improved pedestrian links within the car park and onto the rerouted 
footpath be included. Pedestrians from the south must travel around the site to enter based on the 
current proposal, however it is expected that many will take a shorter route through the car park 
from the southwest corner. 
It should be noted that further guidance on measures to improve the existing route should be 
sought from our AT team and should include a Section 106 to improve its safety and desirability as 
an AT route, and is noted that the applicant intends measures to be approved by the Welsh Gov’t 
such as guard rails. 
 
Parking 
The site will provide a total of 53 spaces, above the minimum required under the MCC Local 
Parking Standards and includes space for waiting vehicles in the drive through and other forms of 
vehicle parking. Parking spaces are to be coned off during delivery, reducing available parking to 
32 spaces. However, this is accepted to be outside of peak hours. 
 
No development may commence until the applicant has entered into a Section 278 Agreement of 
the Highways Act 1980 with the Highway Authority for the construction of the approved junctions 
and associated footways together with appropriate alterations to the characteristics of the public 
highway to promote appropriate traffic speeds. The highway authority requires that the off-site 
improvements are delivered by the applicant /landowner.  Implemented in accordance with the 
S278 agreement entered into between the landowner and the Highway authority for the delivery of 
the development approved under DM/2022/01155 in advance of the construction of the proposed 
access. Implemented in accordance with the S278 agreement entered into between the landowner 
and the Highway authority for the construction of the proposed access for the development.  
 
Heneb: No objection subject to planning conditions securing a watching brief. 
The proposal requires archaeological mitigation. 
The information in the Historic Environment Record (HER) curated by this Trust shows no known 
archaeological sites within the proposed development site. However, an excavation in 2007 within 
the Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate revealed clear evidence for activity from late prehistory, with 
structural evidence concentrated on the Late Iron Age and Roman periods. As such, the 
groundworks required for the proposed development have the potential of encountering similar 
archaeological material. Therefore, a condition requiring the applicant to submit a detailed written 
scheme of investigation for a programme of archaeological work to protect the archaeological 
resource should be attached to any consent granted by your Members. We envisage that this 
programme of work would take the form of a watching brief during the groundworks required for 
the development, with detailed contingency arrangements including the provision of sufficient time 
and resources to ensure that any archaeological features or finds that are located are properly 
investigated and recorded; it should include provision for any sampling that may prove necessary, 
post-excavation recording and assessment and reporting and possible publication of the results. 
To ensure adherence to the recommendations we recommend that the condition should be 
worded in a manner similar to model condition 24 given in Welsh Government Circular 016/2014. 
 
Welsh Government Highway Department: Welsh Government as highway authority for the M48 
motorway does not issue a direction in respect of this application.  
 1) There should be no interference with the Motorway soft estate or boundary fence.  
2) Car park and site lighting should be suitably directed and cowled so as not to cause dazzle or 
glare to highway users.  
3) Any noise insulating measures deemed necessary should be on-site at the applicant's expense.  
4) No drainage from the development site shall be connected to or allowed to discharge into the 
trunk road drainage system. The form and detailed design of the drainage to be incorporated 
within the proposal shall be agreed with the Planning Authority. 
 
Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR): No objection. 

Page 30



 
MCC Active Travel (AT): Concerns 
We remain concerned about the location of this site and the likelihood that people will attempt to 
reach it on foot by crossing the trunk roads. Our previous comments did not recognise the primacy 
of the Wales Coast Path (WCP) - these comments restate our position on the prioritisation of 
Active Travel while looking at the flow of the WCP. We now note that new Wales Coast Path 
connection on the south-west corner of site joins an awkward angled junction, affecting the route's 
coherence. We would request the primary path to be made continuous, with a flowing connection 
between existing street-lit section of the WCP and proposed route (so that WCP is a continuous 
line), with a junction to branch off to lower path (Junctions should be bevelled or given corner radii 
of 1m). WCP is disjointed in current design. 
We have concerns that the 60cm knee rail on the north-west site entrance will be evaded as 
people use a desire-line between the WCP connection to north-west and the restaurant. This 
should be improved through wayfinding, more appropriate fencing (light permeable, such as 
railing) and planting. New development should contribute to the expansion and improvement of 
active travel networks. We understand the walked path will have to be diverted, and request the 
below measures to promote active travel, promote and facilitate use of the route and mitigate the 
impact of the diversion on users. 
It appears that customers entering the site from the industrial estate south-west are currently 
supposed to walk around the site to enter it - there is a risk of the development of informal tracks 
between the path and car park, that will affect the quality of experience on the path, and create a 
risk at the car park. Request for an additional pedestrian access between the path and car park on 
the south side to be provided. Steps are acceptable as there is a ramped access further along. 3. -
Alignment of path should allow for comfortable use. Curve and softer angle will improve flow and 
reduce predictable corner-cutting maintenance issue.  
 
I remain concerned that this site will attract pedestrians to cross the M48 roundabout. 
 
MCC Land Drainage: No objection. 
 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
The application has now demonstrated a means of surface water discharge to a watercourse. 
 
As the site will have a total construction area greater than 100m2, SAB approval will be required. 
Please append the informative below.  
 
Flood risk maps provided by Natural Resources Wales do not indicate the site to be at particular 
risk of flooding. 
 
Our database of historic flood events does not contain records of surface water flooding in close 
proximity to the site. 
 
Our database of drainage and flood assets does not contain records of drainage or flood assets in 
close proximity to the site which may be impacted by the development. 
 
We do not have an objection based on flood risk to the site. 
 
MCC Ecology: No objection. 
An Ecological Appraisal report by the Environmental Dimension Partnership (EDP) has been 
submitted to inform the application. The report details the results of an extended phase 1 habitat 
survey and Preliminary ground level roost assessment of trees for roosting suitability.  
 
The majority of the site has been classified as Amenity Grassland, although the presence of 
species such as Pyramidal Orchid would suggest the grassland is currently managed sensitively 
and holds some local biodiversity value. In order to mitigate for a loss of grassland, it is proposed 
that 'retained amenity grassland and poor semi-improved grassland will be enhanced, creating 
areas of species-rich meadow grassland.'  
 

Page 31



On the 'Soft Landscaping' plans, these are shown to be located at the northern and southern 
boundaries of the site and the Landscape & Ecological Management Plan confirms that a sensitive 
cutting schedule of management. The commitment for long-term improvement of areas of the 
grassland is welcomed and the management proposals (including commitment for 
monitoring/remediation are welcomed). Nevertheless, it must be acknowledged that most of the 
grassland habitat at the site will be lost because of the proposal. Several scattered mature trees 
are located within the site boundary, and it is understood that twelve trees will be removed as a 
result of the proposal. Other habitat on site includes patches of semi-improved grassland, scrub 
and a drainage ditch. To mitigate for the loss of these trees, the GI Statement states that 36 
individual broadleaved trees will be planted. The proposed species to be planted include wild 
service tree, small-leaved lime, field maple, bird cherry, European aspen, Scot's pine and 
European hornbeam - as well as ornamental varieties of whitebeam and crab apple. The use of 
mostly native species is welcomed and considered acceptable mitigation for the loss of trees 
proposed. 
 
Habitats adjacent to the site that are considered valuable for biodiversity include deciduous 
woodland, dense scrub and mature scattered trees. Whilst these habitats will not be directly 
impacted by the proposal, measures should be implemented to ensure they are not impacted 
during the construction phase of the project. It is also noted that there is no significant light spill 
anticipated to impact these habitats. 
 
Protected Species - Breeding Birds Section 2.18 of the ecological appraisal confirms that breeding 
bird surveys have been scoped out by EDP.  However, given that site boundaries are not to be 
directly impacted by the proposals, it is agreed that a full suite of breeding bird surveys will not be 
necessary to inform the application. Nevertheless, habitat on site such as mature trees and scrub 
are likely to support nesting bird species which are protected from destruction under the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981. Any construction works should be undertaken outside of the nesting bird 
season (March - August). If this is not possible, then a pre-works nesting bird check by an 
experienced ecologist should be undertaken to ensure that there is no breach of wildlife legislation. 
The provision of additional native scrub/hedgerow planting, as well as sensitive management of 
grassland habitat, should provide breeding and foraging habitat for more common bird species.  
 
Several trees on and adjacent to the site have been identified as holding potential to support 
roosting bats. It is understood that the majority of these will be retained within the proposed 
development. However, one tree (T10) which was assessed as holding potential for roosting bats, 
will be felled to facilitate the construction of the proposed SuDS. As such, it has been 
recommended that a soft-felling technique is adopted during removal to avoid destruction or 
disturbance of a bat roost. As mitigation for the loss of potential roosting features, two-crevice 
roosting bat boxes will be installed on retained trees within the site. 
Overall, the site was assessed to have low suitability to support foraging and commuting bats due 
to the managed nature of the site and disturbance from adjacent infrastructure.  
 
Protected Species - Badger No badger setts were identified during the ecological survey of the site 
and no direct evidence of badgers was noted.   
Protected Species - Dormice A number of dormice records were returned from within close 
proximity of the site, including a record 0.38km east of the site. The dense scrub to the east of the 
site was considered to offer suitable foraging and breeding habitat for the species, although the 
rest of the site was considered relatively unsuitable.  
 
Consequently, the report has assumed hazel dormice to be present within the scrub to the east of 
the site. It is understood that the proposals will involve cutting back approximately 28m of scrub 
where dormice are assumed to be present. It has been recommended that vegetation clearance is 
undertaken under the guidance of a non-licenced method statement outlining a series of 
precautionary work measures. It is also noted that there is no significant light spill anticipated to 
impact suitable adjacent habitats. 
 
Biodiversity Net Benefit Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 12 sets out that "planning authorities must 
seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or 

Page 32



nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity" (para 6.4.5 refers). This policy and 
subsequent policies in Chapter 6 of PPW 12 respond to the Section 6 Duty of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.  
 
A Green Infrastructure Statement has been submitted to inform the application. The tree planting 
and grassland enhancement has been considered as mitigation for habitat loss, in line with the 
stepwise approach detailed in PPW 12, and therefore not considered above. The 'Soft 
Landscaping' plans detail the provision of native species hedgerow to the east and south of the 
site. The proposed species and management of the hedgerows is considered acceptable. 
Ornamental hedgerows are proposed to the north of the site, but these are of low biodiversity 
value. The plans also include the provision of a drainage basin which is primarily situated for SuDs 
purposes. 
 
However, the Green Infrastructure Statement and Landscape & Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) state that the drainage basin has been designed to be permanently wet and will be 
planted with aquatic marginal vegetation including water forget-me-not, ragged robin, 
meadowsweet and yellow iris. Despite being predominantly included for SuDs provision, it is 
agreed that the proposed management of the drainage basin will provide a degree of biodiversity 
enhancement. A reptile hibernaculum is proposed to be created in the south-east of the site to 
provide overwintering habitat for reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs. This is welcomed and, with 
the provision of permanently wet habitat elsewhere on site, should provide an enhancement of the 
site for these species. Three bird boxes will be installed on retained trees within the site boundary. 
The specification of these boxes has not been detailed within the LEMP. It is advised that boxes 
include a mixture of 28 and 32mm hole, and open-fronted nestboxes. 
 
MCC Ecology comments 18.02.2026 
Comments from the MCC biodiversity team on the above application were provided by Daniel 
Hulmes on 22nd May 2025. The comments raised no objection subject to conditions to safeguard 
protected and priority species (CEMP) and provision of features to achieve net benefit for 
biodiversity (LEMP).  The comments were based on the plans provided, including the plan 
"Proposed Lighting Layout, produced by Signify, 501682049 dwg 01" which shows proposed 
lighting within the red line boundary.  Biodiversity comments state "It is also noted that there is no 
significant light spill anticipated to impact suitable adjacent habitats".  
  
The biodiversity team have been reconsulted to comment on the proposed Transport Assessment 
report which refers to additional lighting outside of the redline boundary, along the coastal path 
and underpass.  The report includes a plan showing lighting columns along the length of the path 
as far as the underpass, in contrast to the low-level bollards shown on the path within the redline 
only on the proposed lighting layout.  This level of lighting would raise an objection from the 
biodiversity team, due to impacts on habitat likely to support dormouse.   
  
If lighting outside the redline boundary is necessary it must be designed to minimise impacts on 
retained and new ecological habitats, informed by proper assessment and lux plans demonstrating 
light spill.  Other comments provided by the MCC biodiversity team are still applicable.   
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW): No objection. 
We have no objection to the proposed development as submitted and provide advice regarding 
protected species Dormice. The impacts associated with this scheme seem to be of a lower risk 
for protected species. 
We consider the site to be not of the highest environmental setting and therefore request an 
informative to be imposed on any planning permission granted.  
 
MCC Economic Development: Objection 
  
Whilst the proposed development will deliver new jobs, we recommend refusal on the grounds that 
it does not comply with Policy E1 of the adopted Local Development Plan, which addresses the 
protection of existing employment land from competing uses. 
 
5.2 Neighbour Notification 

Page 33



 
To date there have been 415 representations submitted, 105 objecting and 310 in support, the 
points raised are summarised below: 
 
Chepstow is a beautiful town with independent restaurants. Let's keep it that way 
 
Proposal delivers different food options for people 
 
Encourages growth 
  
Children are going to short cut across that extremely fast and dangerous road to use this facility 
 
Chepstow is inconveniently not close to fast food, have to travel to Bristol, Newport or even 
Gloucester 
 
Bring more people to Chepstow.  
 
Traffic would not be affected too much considering as not in the centre of Chepstow 
 
Create jobs for people in the area, especially for young people needing to get a bit more 
experience 
 
Generate a handful of low paid jobs, 
 
The road is already dangerous and this would lead to children potentially dodging heavy traffic as 
they run across roads to reach the site quickly 
 
The tunnel under the M48 has been suggested as a potential access route, however anyone who 
knows the area, knows that this tunnel is already a hotbed for antisocial behaviour. You can often 
find local youths under there taking drugs, revving engines and behaving in a threatening manner 
to many who use the footpaths  
 
Increase in litter 
 
Increase air pollution  
 
Large Hedgehog population on the industrial estate that are endangered and the building would 
cause issues to their habitat 
 
Traffic congestion 
 
MCC claims to be pro-active travel (see recent RLDP proposals) but this restaurant would 
encourage vehicle use. The applicant’s own documents state the number of people required within 
driving distance to make it viable. This will increase congestion and be detrimental to air quality.  
For M48 users there are already fast food restaurants at Magor so the need for this one must be 
negligible at best 
 
The proposed site will attract children of all ages and I'm not convinced that safe access is 
delivered in the plans. It's next to a motorway and very busy roundabout that was not designed 
with pedestrians and bicycles in mind 
 
McDonald's will provide wider food and drink choice for people in Chepstow, especially for those 
who work at the industrial estate and currently have no food choice near their place of work 
 
Public amenity - it will detract from the public amenity to the detriment of local residents and 
visitors 
 
Visual Impact the first thing entering the area will be a McDonalds take away 
 

Page 34



Consideration does need to be made to the way people will access it, we need to prevent people 
walking across the roundabout with it being a motorway exit and very busy. Ensure that an 
appropriate path is created that avoids this route 
 
It needs to draw people to the town centre, not the start of another out of town retail or leisure 
development. This proposal does not align with the Welsh Government’s green travel development 
plan at all 
 
Object due to the nature of where it is and the safety of the children and adults who will use the 
quickest way to get to it which is by dodging the traffic on the on and off ramp at the roundabout to 
cut across and go down the path from the top entrance of the industrial estate. The tunnel under 
the motorway is not used often and many just cross over at the top by the roundabout including 
current workers at the industrial estate 
 
No safe bus route for workers to the estate  
 
Will also cause queues on a roundabout which is usually pretty stacked with commuters. It is not a 
free flowing roundabout at those times  
 
The location is very unsuitable. The main issue I see going forward is that traffic is already awful 
coming off the slip road and going up the A466, also the roundabouts by Thornwell School 
 
Teenagers will not use the proposed tunnel under the slip road to access McDonalds and will 
simply run across the roundabout at the top which will result in numerous accidents  
 
The litter under the tunnel (and graffiti and unsociable behaviour) is already a problem. The back 
of my house is at the entrance to the tunnel and we constantly get people down there revving their 
engines, breaking glass and causing havoc 
 
Issue of the wildlife and Welsh Coast route which goes through the top of the industrial estate 
which will be completely destroyed if a business is allowed to build there 
 
I think that it would be more suited located in one of the closed down businesses on the high street 
and help to rejuvenate the high street due to it being so quiet 
 
Introducing a low cost chain will massively impact similar independent restaurants which can't 
compete 
 
Currently we must travel to either Magor or Bristol to enjoy a meal from McDonalds. Chepstow is 
limited for fast food places 
 
Represents a significant investment in Chepstow, boosting the local economy 
 
Create jobs 
 
McDonald's franchises actively support the local community through sponsorship, volunteering 
and donations to local charities 
 
These proposals are well located, close to a motorway junction and accessible on foot via a 
pedestrian underpass 
 
There is plenty of empty warehouses or other buildings that McDonalds could rent or buy. Why 
has it got to go on such a beautiful piece of land? 
 
How can you build on the Coast path? 
 
An out-of-town restaurant will drive business out of Chepstow town centre and further exacerbate 
the decline in small businesses 
 

Page 35



Need to create jobs, we need manufacturing, new schools, new amenities, new shops, new large 
supermarket, not McDonalds or Greggs 
 
It will add to increased traffic, at a traffic black spot, and the danger for children, trying to use an 
already fast roundabout, to cycle or walk there, will lead to accidents. This needs to be taken into 
consideration, as probability of a child losing their life is exceptionally high. This is the wrong site 
 
I'm a small independent burger takeaway in Chepstow town. As it stands Chepstow is small. 
There's already enough competition within the small area with other independent takeaways let 
alone allowing a huge fast-food chain to come in. It could literally wipe a handful of small 
businesses out 
 
Chepstow doesn't need any more food outlets, it needs shops  
 
Obesity crisis 
No more fast food needed; climate crisis - no more outlets serving beef, particularly where the 
global corporation is causing so much deforestation  
 
There is only one road in and out of Newhouse Farm Estate and it is already very busy with cars 
and lorries going in and out to the various businesses based there 
 
There is already a Greggs and Subway near Hardwick Hill/High Beech roundabout which already 
causes delays to the surrounding roads at certain times of day. Another fast food outlet would just 
cause more traffic congestion to already congested roads 
 
Support a new affordable food establishment in Chepstow 
 
Proposed location is right on the Wales Coast Path, which should be treated with more respect as 
an important national and international landmark.  
 
I am a local independent business owner and believe it is necessary to create jobs and variety in 
the area. I see no direct impact to the centre of Chepstow where most disagree.  
 
 
5.3 Other Representations 
 
Aneurin Bevan Health Board: Objection. 
The Public Health Team of Aneurin Bevan University Health Board comments are summarised as 
follows: 
 
In summary, due to the concerns raised in the above response, the Public Health Team of Aneurin 
Bevan University Health Board would not be supportive of this application. Our concerns are 
specifically in relation to the location of the site with the following concerns:  
Proximity to an educational settings (865 metres/ 10 minute walk).  
Proximity to several existing takeaways selling predominantly food and drinks high in fat, salt and 
sugar, and the high concentration of such food outlets.  
Health challenges within the local area related to living with overweight and obesity for children, 
young people and adults.  
Impact on viability of neighbourhood centre  
Inappropriate use of Protected Employment Site Land. 
 
5.4 Local Member Representations 
 
This application will provide considerable new employment in the area when we may lose a 
significant amount of jobs locally. Those persons who may need to seek new employment are 
showing considerable interest in the jobs that will be on offer if this application goes ahead. I have 
always had concerns regarding safety of young people accessing this site. I would appreciate this 
application going to committee meeting to fully appreciate the new proposals. A site visit would 
seem necessary to appreciate the nature of the route. The area is diverse with many shift workers 

Page 36



and more young people than in any other part of Monmouthshire. I appreciate the concerns of 
ABUHB over fast food outlets but I'm not sure that objecting to this application is the way to tackle 
them. Choice is important to all and there is not a proliferation of such outlets in this area. For 
some people in the area, speed is also important. There are several concerns raised but also 
considerable support locally. If runners use the area there are alternative routes for them. I would 
greatly appreciate the public debate that a full committee meeting would allow. 
 
Please note all representations can be read in full on the Council's website: 
https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN 
 
 
6.0 EVALUATION 
 
6.1 Principle of Development 
 
The Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate comprises B1 (office/R&D/Light industrial), B2 (General 
Industry), and B8 (Storage and Distribution) uses. The Industrial Estate is designated as a 
Protected Employment Site in the adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) (allocation: SAE2k) 
Policy E1 the Protection of Existing Employment Land must therefore be adhered to along with 
Policy RET4.  
 
The Planning system manages the development and use of land in the public interest contributing 
to improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and as stated in paragraph 1.2 of Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 12, February 2024) (PPW12). 
 
The consideration of the principle of this development must start with Future Wales: The National 
Plan 2040, Welsh Government (2021). This document replaces the Wales Spatial Plan and acts 
as the national development framework, guiding development and where investment should be in 
Wales to 2040. This framework will be built on by Strategic Development Plans at a regional level 
and LDP's at a local authority level, to identify the location of new development and infrastructure. 
This document supports and helps deliver the aims of the Welsh Government Economic Action 
Plan. 
 
PPW12, here the overarching principles of 'National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes' is 
'fosters economic activity' and under 'Facilitating Accessible and Healthy Environments' 
development must not be 'car dependent'; 'Accessible by means of active travel and public 
transport' and 'Equality of access' and 'Feel safe and inclusive'. 
The emphasis upon reducing the reliance upon the car, is a consistent theme of this national 
policy document. 
For planning purposes the Welsh Government defines economic development as the development 
of land and buildings for activities that generate sustainable long term prosperity, jobs and 
incomes. The planning system should ensure that the growth of output and employment in Wales 
as a whole is not constrained by a shortage of land for economic uses ( Para 5.4.1) 
Wherever possible, planning authorities should encourage and support developments which 
generate economic prosperity and regeneration. Sites identified for employment use in a 
development plan should be protected from inappropriate development. (Para 5.4.4). 
Planning authorities should aim to: 
- align jobs and services with housing and sustainable transport infrastructure, to reduce the need 
for travel, and dependency on travel by car 
- control and manage the release of unwanted employment sites to other uses 
(Para 5.4.13 Planning Policy Wales 12). 
 
At a local level, the two policies within the adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) that should be 
considered when assessing the principle of this development are Policy E1 and Policy RET4. 
Policy E1 recognises that the importance of protecting existing employment sites / premises is of 
continuing value over the plan period to ensure there is an appropriate portfolio of employment 
land and premises that can be safeguarded from competing uses and provides for a sufficient 
quality, range and choice. 

Page 37

https://planningonline.monmouthshire.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN


 
These policies are addressed under each relevant sub-headings below.  
 
As this proposal is to move away from class B1, B2 and B8 to a retail use, Policy E1 (Policy E1 - 
Protection of Existing Employment Land of the LDP) sets out that this will only be permitted if it 
meets one of the following criteria: 
 
a)           the site  or premises is no longer suitable or well-located for employment use; 
b)           a sufficient quantity and variety of industrial sites or premises is available and can be 
brought forward to meet the employment needs of the County and the local area; 
c)           there is no viable industrial or business employment use for the site or premises; 
d)           there   would   be   substantial   amenity   benefits   in   allowing alternative forms of 
development at the site or premises; 
e)           the loss of the site would not be prejudicial to the aim of creating a balanced local 
economy, especially the provision of manufacturing jobs. 
 
Exceptionally, planning permission may be granted for a change of use of existing employment 
land when the above criteria are not fully complied with if: 
(i)           the proposal is for small scale retail uses which are ancillary to the main business / 
industrial activity; or 
(ii)          small scale service activities of an industrial nature which are not suited to the high street 
and involve the sale, service or repair of vehicles or machinery. 
 
This is to be addressed in turn: 
 
a)           the site or premises is no longer suitable or well-located for employment use; 
 
The site is located within the main industrial estate and so in principle is still suitable for B1, B2 
and B8 uses. The location is not questioned as it is part of a widely developed and established 
protected employment site.  
 
The agent has argued that the site is not deliverable and therefore not suitable for B use class 
employment. 
It is recognised that the topography of the site is such that it makes it more challenging to develop, 
although whilst this site may not lend itself to the construction of a large B class use unit that would 
involve substantial excavation of the site to create a level base, it has been suggested by the 
Council that the difference in levels could be overcome by developing smaller units/starter units 
that require less extraction and land disturbance.  The agent has sought to address this point 
regarding the viability assessment that has been undertaken on a small starter unit scheme for 8 
units. 
 
The points that the agents raise to substantiate that the site is unsuitable for B use class are 
summarised and listed below:  
 
1. Unsuccessful marketing efforts. 
2.  The Council's own employment land review (December 2023, updated October 2025), does not 
identify the site as being available for B use class development in any case (previously highlighted 
in para 3.19 CMELPS - there is not capacity identified in SAE2K). On this basis the site does not 
currently form part of the land supply for the area, and there is no reliance on it to deliver B use 
class development. 
3 The site is capable of no more than 18,000sqft of development, in small units - a typology at 
odds with the occupiers at Newhouse Farm. 
4. A viability appraisal has been prepared and submitted demonstrating that a small unit 
industrial/commercial scheme is not financially viable. 
 
With regard to point 3 above, it is recognised that Newhouse Farm industrial Estate is 
characterised by large units, but this does not rule out the potential for smaller units to come 
forward on this site, particularly as 30% of all industrial transactions between 2012 and 2022 in 
Monmouthshire were attributed to small industrial units of up to 250sqm. There is evidence that 

Page 38



there is a need to develop such units particularly as the suitability of the location is not questioned, 
it being part of a widely developed and established protected employment site. The other issues 
that question suitability merge with the assessment of other relevant criteria that are addressed 
below.  
 
This criterion is not met.  
 
b)           A sufficient quantity and variety of industrial sites or premises is available and can be 
brought forward to meet the employment needs of the County and the local area. 
 
The agent suggests that there is a clear surplus in the supply of land. In the supporting information 
it is argued that the Council has a surplus of available employment land, including over 4.5ha in 
Chepstow; and despite being part of a wider allocation, the application site is not included within 
the identified future employment land supply, and therefore its development for an alternative use 
would not reduce the current surplus. (It has also been put forth that the Council's Employment 
Land Review (December 2023, updated October 2025), does not identify the site as being 
available for B use class development in any case (previously highlighted in para 3.19 CMELPS - 
there is not capacity identified in SAE2K). On this basis the site does not currently form part of the 
land supply for the area and there is no reliance on it to deliver B use class development. 
 
They conclude from this that the development of this land for an alternative use will not impact the 
County's ability to maintain a sufficient supply of industrial land, in accordance with the policy test. 
   
However, reference is given to the report, 'Supply and demand for industrial space in 
Monmouthshire' – Lichfields’ study: 
 
In 2023, MCC's Economy, Employment & Skills team commissioned Litchfields to undertake 
economic analysis to inform a new Economy, Employment and Skills Strategy. In this analysis, 
entitled 'Growing Monmouthshire's Future Economy' (Economic Analysis) (June 2023) they noted 
that Monmouthshire contains 585,000sqm of industrial space. This industrial stock declined by 
35,000sqm (-5.6%) over the last decade. This is in contrast with a small growth seen in Cardiff 
Capital Region (+0.8%) and Wales (+0.9%). 
 
Monmouthshire, South-East Wales and Wales have all experienced a decline in industrial space 
since 2002. However, Monmouthshire has been subject to a greater rate of loss, having declined 
by 11.0% between 2002 and 2022 (compared with -7.1% in South East Wales and -3.8% in 
Wales). The evidence indicates that loss of industrial space in Monmouthshire is not due to a lack 
of demand. 
 
Many industrial properties within Monmouthshire were built in the 1980s and 1990s. However 
almost 20% of industrial stock has been delivered since 2010 including 15,000sqm (2%) being 
provided within the past three years.  
 
Vacancy levels within the industrial market in Monmouthshire stand at 0.1%. This clearly highlights 
that the industrial market is operating without additional capacity which is reflected by the very 
limited availability of floorspace. This is a strong indicator of high occupier demand compared to 
the Cardiff industrial market which recorded a vacancy rate of 4.6%. This low rate of vacancy is 
indicative of how industrial supply is being outstripped by demand. (MCC’s Economic 
Development officer has stated that this is a view that is shared by local businesses including 
property agents and the shortage of industrial property is consistently raised by businesses, whilst 
the very limited vacancy rate means that many businesses have struggled to find suitable 
premises to meet their ongoing needs, let alone future expansion requirements).  
 
This indicates that industrial supply is being outstripped by demand at present with many needs of 
businesses not being met. This includes ongoing operational needs as well as local business 
expansion requirements and aspirations which will materialise within the next 10 years. Lichfields' 
own advice was therefore that addressing the imbalance between property supply and demand, 
particularly in the industrial sector should be a primary focus of the Council's emerging economic 
strategy. 

Page 39



 
The agent has stated that this reference to the 2023 report,('Growing Monmouthshire's Future 
Economy' (Economic Analysis) (June 2023)) is misleading on the basis that this report considers 
premises, not land. The application site is allocated land, not existing premises - whilst the two 
may be linked, a shortage of premises (highlighted in the 2023 report) does not equate to a 
shortage in land. Furthermore, the policy test considers sufficient quantity and variety of sites or 
premises. It is therefore argued by the agent that there is a surplus of employment land and the 
development of the site for an alternative (non-B use) use will not have an adverse impact on the 
ability of the Council to meet its needs through its land bank, whilst not reducing the existing 
supply of premises.  
 
However, contrary to this assertion that the 2023 report considers premises, not land. Para 6.20 of 
this report reads:  
 
Based on our review of the existing employment stock, ensuring an adequate supply of land and 
premises will be critical to enabling the growth of and investment in these business Types (B1 & 
B2). 
 
Also Para 8.26 and 8.27 of the 2023 report reads as follows: 
 
8.26      The acute shortage of suitable business premises represents a significant threat to the 
local economy. If not addressed, it could undermine future growth prospects as existing 
businesses are unable to expand and new businesses are unable to establish or move into the 
County.  
8.27      The identification and allocation of an adequate quantum of high quality, accessible land 
for employment purposes in the RLDP will be important in this regard but many of the businesses 
that engaged in the stakeholder events emphasised the need for existing premises that are 
available for immediate occupation (i.e. in preference to land for development opportunities). This 
raises the importance of ensuring that employment land allocations are viable and deliverable and 
that developers are attracted into Monmouthshire to operate. There is a clear imperative to provide 
for unmet need for industrial and related premises (including appropriate warehousing space).  
 
Finally, with reference to the Employment Land Review and the agent's statement that this site is 
not listed, the summary of Employment Land Supply in Chepstow notes that there is 0ha 
remaining land available for SAE2 sites. However, often sites do come forward, for example on 
space in between buildings and are therefore picked up in the monitoring. It does not mean that by 
virtue of the site not being included as an identified industrial and business site it is not available 
for B use class development. Therefore, the fact it is directly identified does not preclude it from 
the protection that Policy E1 provides and its removal as an available site will in principle reduce 
the existing supply of employment land that is afforded protection under Policy SAE2k.  
Also, it is noteworthy with reference to the Employment Land Background Paper October 2025, as 
stated in the introduction section, this paper purely monitors and collates information on 
employment land supply across designated employment sites. This site is allocated in the Adopted 
Local Development Plan under the reference SAE2k and protected for industrial and business 
development classes B1, B2 and B8 of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 
 
The agent accepts that the 2023 report identifies that the availability of B use floorspace is low; 
their argument is that the solution is not to hold on to land that offers no prospect of delivering 
floorspace in such a use, this is addressed under the Part c) Viability, below.  
Taken with consideration of the statistics and information given, there is not clear evidence to 
demonstrate that there is a sufficient quantity and variety of industrial sites or premises available 
that can be brought forward to meet the employment needs of the County and the local area. 
Criterion (b) is not therefore satisfied. 
 
c) That there is no viable industrial or business use.  
 
There are several documents that have been submitted by the agent to demonstrate that this site 
in not viable for industrial or business use. This has also been subject to ongoing discussion 
during this application.  

Page 40



 
A key argument put forward in the supporting information refers to the topographical issues of 
developing the site for B uses. In this instance, particular issues include site levels, the need to 
create a new access and provision of utilities and drainage infrastructure.  
 
Commercial Market and Employment Land Position Statement has been submitted with this 
application. This report covers how the application has been marketed. This documents the level 
of marketing that has been undertaken which covers marketing boards, production and distribution 
of marketing material and online promotion. The plots marketed included a single plot of six acres 
(and capable of accommodating up to 100,000 sq. ft) as well as smaller opportunities such as the 
application site. It is stated that the site has been actively marketed as such since 2019.  
 
Ten potentially suitable enquiries were logged by CBRE over a five-year period. The report states 
that it is understood that CBRE received no response from prospective occupiers when following 
up on five of the ten enquiries. It is suggested that these enquiries were general rather than site-
specific. 
 
The agent has given reasons for the general lack of interest in the site; these are listed as follows: 

• Industrial developers generally focussing on key regional cities;  

• £/sq.ft rents in Chepstow/Newhouse Farm being too low to justify the higher £/sq.ft 
construction costs associated with smaller schemes;  

• The size of the application site (with a main net developable area of 1.2 acres) falling 
below the target development size for most industrial developers.  

• To ensure that a sufficient Gross Development Value can be achieved relative to 
capital costs, developers typically prefer plots with a net developable area of 3 acres 
and above (but can sometimes make sites of 2 acres and above work in more valuable 
urban locations);  

• The abnormal costs associated with developing the application site. 
 
It is noteworthy that there is no price given for sale or lease of land, so it remains difficult to 
establish whether the price set is reflective of the employment land allocation and the constraints 
that are applicable at this site.  
 
The supporting information includes a viability position with reference to construction costs, 
borrowing rates and comparative land value. This has been summarised as follows: 
 
Construction costs for the development of new industrial units have increased substantially from a 
typical cost of £70/sq.ft in 2020 to a current rate of between £110 and £125/sq.ft (subject to the 
exact specification of units).  
 
"In addition borrowing costs have also risen. Commercial borrowing to fund development is 
typically available at rates of 8% to 9%, thereby doubling the cost of accessing finance (when 
compared with four years earlier). Taken together, these factors have had a significant and 
adverse impact on the viability of industrial development. This is particularly true in locations such 
as South Wales, where values are comparatively low, with current market conditions rendering 
industrial development economically unviable unless:  
However, it is the abnormal costs arising from the topographical constraints on this site, which 
requires levelling works, the creation of a new access into the site from the main estate road and 
utilities infrastructure to bring utilities from off-site. The supporting information states that the initial 
costs provided to (but not verified by) M4 Property Consultants suggest that these factors could 
increase construction costs to over £183/sq.ft based on an 18,000sq.ft development. It is 
concluded that it is difficult to see any developer taking on such a development, particularly when it 
is considered that rental values are likely to fall some way short of the £10/sq.ft required to make 
the development of unconstrained plots viable.  Reference is made to the Severn Link Distribution 
Centre as being the closest existing comparator on Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate to the scale 
of development that could be delivered at the application site (i.e. smaller format units ranging 
from 4,000sqft to 20,000sq.ft). Rents achieved at Severn Link Distribution Centre have recently 
been reaching £7.50 to £8.00/sq.ft for modern, refurbished stock." 
 

Page 41



In addition to this supporting information has been provided of the cost of bringing the site forward, 
"the costs for McDonald's to undertake the principal facilitating and enabling works would be 
c.£992,000. It has been stated that as McDonald's would undertake the works itself, no overheads 
or profit are included in these costs. However, if another developer were to develop the site, the 
cost to undertake the same works would be higher, at c.£1.2 million."  
 
This leads to the following summary presented by the agent:  
"Given these costs, as we have set out in previous correspondence, associated with the planning 
application, we feel it is very unlikely that it would be viable to develop the site for a more 
traditional employment / industrial use - which would not attract sufficient end value to support the 
upfront costs. Taking into account the supply of land available elsewhere, which would not have 
such high externalities and barriers to entry, it is very unlikely that the site will come forward for 
traditional B use class employment - whereas the McDonald's can come forward, delivering 
significant employment opportunities for local workers."  
 
However, the viability assessment related to delivering larger units on site which inevitably resulted 
in more costly engineering works to be undertaken. The Council raised the need to consider 
developing smaller starter units as a less engineering intensive and arguably less costly and 
suitable alternative on this site.  
 
In response the agent has provided a viability assessment for the delivery of a small unit scheme. 
This viability appraisal also supports the stance that a small unit industrial/commercial scheme is 
not financially viable. The figures given are below:  
 
They state that "this Viability Assessment demonstrates that an 8,000 sq. ft small unit scheme (8 
units at 10000sq.ft), which fits comfortably on the site allowing for access and parking would 
create a land value deficit of over £3million.  Even if the 18,000 sq. ft of floorspace suggested 
feasible by CBRE was built, and therefore development value increased to c. £3.3m3, the scheme 
would result in a negative residual land value (even without accounting for additional build costs)/ 
18,000 sq. ft, at £12/sq. ft capitalised by 6.5% (in line with the viability appraisal) = £3,323,076.92 
land value (even without accounting for additional build costs)." 
 
MCC Estates Surveyors have reviewed the information provided; it is recognised that a reasonable 
argument on face value has been presented regarding the necessity to change the use of the site, 
although the following points are made that question the picture given in respect of costing, 
marketing enquiries and maximising site potential.  Their detailed comments are set out below:  
 
(i) It is not unusual for sites to withhold guide prices as a means of stimulating enquiries, although 
it is expected they would be able to evidence the existence of enquiries and/or that financial 
constraints were relevant to the reason the site has not been brought forward. We know there is 
established demand in Monmouthshire for B1 use/industrial development, so they seem to be 
suggesting construction cost is the biggest constraint although this is in part on assumption rather 
than unsuccessful enquiries or attempts to bring forward.  
(ii)The financial assessment utilised a few BCIS examples of costings, but there are big ranges in 
the costs that could have improved the values and viability. As an example, only one site listed 
includes external works but at a significantly lower amount than they have used in their own model 
for their site.  
(iii)There is no indication of how a site could be made viable (as in what construction cost would 
the scheme stack up?) 
(iv) A further issue is the external site costs (which make up the largest proportion of the 
development cost) and the relatively limited scale of the development. It may well be that onsite 
constraints prevent greater density but by comparison, at Rockfield Farm in Undy we had an 
enquiry where they were looking to develop 30 small scale business units over 2 hectares. This 
site is proposing 8 units over an acre; this is conservative and will be contributing to the unviable 
development model as essentially they need more rent to offset the external costs.  
(v) It is worth noting that B of E interest rates have been cut several times since this report has 
been written, currently standing at 3.75%.  
 

Page 42



To make a comparison, regarding land values etc., the following MCC case examples are 
referenced:  
 

• Rockfield Farm Undy - Circa 7.0 acres of B1 Use Class employment land within a 
mixed use development site located in Undy. Estates have advertised this site for sale 
on the open market, inviting offers for over 5 years now. Whilst some interest has been 
received, it has been sporadic in nature and not at the level that we would expect given 
the site’s location. The site has been advertised on Rightmove and via MCC's website. 
In early 2025, we received a single offer via tender from a company proposing to 
develop half the site for B1 Use. Proposals allowed for 33 X 1,000 sqft units on 3.7 
acres of land. The offer was conditional subject to planning with the purchase price 
£650k + VAT so approximately £175k per acre. There were other conditions attached 
to the offer that may well have resulted in a lower purchase price including site 
abnormals and planning contributions if evidenced/required.  

 

• Nantgavenny Lane, Abergavenny - 1.47 acres of land adjacent to an existing business 
park. Special purchaser sale to the owner of the business park. Proposals are for up to 
8,500 sq. ft of B1 Use with mix of 1,000 and 2,000 sq. ft units. Off market transaction 
due to access constraint and ransom with conditional offer of £160k agreed subject to 
planning, so approximately £110k per acre. There are a number of site constraints 
identified on this site that have affected viability, notably access which would make the 
site unviable to any other purchaser/developer. The existing business park is fully 
occupied. The purchaser is confident that the additional space will be fully let due to the 
number of enquiries received. This interest is echoed by Estates, with strong interest 
and demand for new starter units in the north of the county, particularly Raglan and 
Abergavenny. 

 
In general, the supporting information given with this application seems to reflect standard industry 
practice when marketing commercial development land for sale on the open market. The 
statement appears to fairly reflect MCC Estates’ experiences of the market conditions as at the 
time produced, although it is relevant that it has been noted that some influencing conditions have 
since changed that may help improve the viability of the site, but this should be met with caution 
and generally applied. 
 
On face value there is a convincing argument that the site is not viable for traditional B use class 
development, whilst McDonalds have stated that they can undertake the facilitating and enabling 
works with no overheads or profits associated. However, the viability assessment relating to both 
schemes (large single unit and small starter units) has raised some queries that could potentially 
impact the overall costing of the site. In addition to the points raised above there is no evidence of 
facilitation of B use class by exploring options to access funding or to facilitate development, for 
example working with neighbouring land developers to undertake the land work. 
These are all issues that singularly are not conclusive to question the viability assessment and the 
argument put forward, although when taken together raise questions that lead to the conclusion at 
this point that it cannot be fully substantiated there is no viable B use class on this site. This 
criteria has not therefore been met.  
 
d) Substantial amenity benefits. 
 
The basis of the argument put forward regarding benefits delivered is set against the 'do nothing' 
scenario, and this is based on the premise that the site is unlikely to come forward for an 
employment generating use.  
These include: 
 
1 Enhanced choice (in terms of food and beverage options) for the local community (both 
employees at / visitors to the employment uses in the area, and the wider residential community) 
complementing the approved scheme to the north of the site. This is particularly relevant given the 
feedback from the consultation event which highlighted that local residents are travelling excessive 
distances to the nearest existing McDonald's restaurant. 

Page 43



2 Improvements to the Wales Coast Path, including re-surfacing, signage and lighting (with 
provision made for lighting beyond the red line boundary). 
3 Introduction of significant green infrastructure (having both an ecological & visual impact benefit). 
4 Significant job creation, including up to 85 FTE jobs during operation - new employment which 
will be accessible and attainable to those within the local community who might otherwise find it 
difficult to find pathways into employment, and which will bring associated social and mental health 
benefits to those employed in the restaurant once operational. There is emphasis upon the 
employment benefits specifically, with approximately two thirds of McDonald's workforce aged 
between 16 and 25, and for many a job at the company is a first step in their career. 
5 Wider economic benefits, ranging from construction and indirect/induced employment, through to 
increased GVA and an increase in business rates payable (50% of which would be retained by the 
Council to support local services). Critically, having regard to the employment benefits specifically, 
approximately two thirds of McDonald's workforce are aged between 16 and 25, and for many a 
job at the company is a first step in their career. 
(Response to Policy Objection  November 2025). 
 
However, there is no evidence provided that demonstrates the delivery of a fast-food drive-thru 
restaurant provides amenity benefits over that of the allocated employment use. The argument 
that there is no food service provision on site servicing the existing employees is now undermined 
with the planning consent on the adjacent site which includes a fast-food takeaway restaurant of a 
similar scale as that proposed in this application. 
 
There are some improvements proposed in the local environment because of this development 
regarding improvements to the local footpath network, including GI enhancements, although this is 
not exclusive to this type of development proposed, and could also apply to any other 
development that comes forward on this site. Also given the level of pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic that will be visiting McDonalds it is arguable whether this is indeed enough to outweigh 
some other major concerns that arise from the proposed active travel route and lack of access to 
sustainable transport.  
 
Employment creation is not a matter of amenity in this case, and when set against the provision of 
more skilled labour that potentially arises from the development of the site for a B use class does 
not represent a substantial amenity benefit in this case. The threshold has not been reached to 
evidence that substantial amenity benefits would be delivered by this development. 
This criterion is not met.  
 
e) The loss of the site would not be detrimental to creating a balanced economy.  
 
It is relevant to refer to the adjacent site, the officer report concluded in this case...." that the 
proposed PFS and drive-through facilities would provide circa 75 jobs for those in the local 
community. Despite not being in the manufacturing or warehousing sector this is an important 
benefit of the scheme. In addition, as the full application is effectively enabling development to 
deliver the outline element of the application, this would also facilitate a further 200 jobs in the 
manufacturing/ warehousing sector which, without the retail element, would not be viable or 
deliverable. For the above reasons the loss of the site is not considered to be prejudicial to the aim 
of creating a balanced local economy". 
 
This application also offers… Significant job creation, including up to 85 FTE jobs during operation 
- new employment which will be accessible and attainable to those within the local community who 
might otherwise find it difficult to find pathways into employment, and which will bring associated 
social and mental health benefits to those employed in the restaurant once operational  
The proposed use will create a significant number of accessible and attainable jobs and training 
opportunities, particularly for young people in the local community;  
Approximately two thirds of McDonald's workforce are aged between 16 and 25, and for many a 
job at the company is a first step in their career. 
The type of employment and training offered by McDonald's aligns directly with Monmouthshire's 
NEET Prevention Strategy (2024) - which is targeting support for young people at risk of 
disengagement from education, employment, or training. This is even more relevant given the 
demographic profile of Bulwark and Thornwell, the neighbouring ward, which has a higher 

Page 44



proportion of people aged 16-25 than the Monmouthshire average as well as a higher proportion of 
working aged people registered as unemployed than the Monmouthshire average (Response to 
Policy objection, Litchfields 07.11.2025). 
 
The numbers employed and target demographic is positive. However, when compared with the 
potential for manufacturing and skilled labour being delivered on site it would not be policy 
compliant. It is argued by the applicant that this site will not come forward due to the suitability and 
viability of the site, therefore this is a better option than 'do nothing' on the site. It is the contention 
of the Local Planning Authority that the information provided is not sufficiently compelling or 
conclusive enough to establish that the site will not come forward for B use class.  
Unlike the adjacent site, there is no enabling development arising from this proposal, and given the 
proposal arguably removes the opportunity for the delivery of this allocated site for B use class 
development with the associated high skilled jobs to be replaced by low skilled retail employment, 
it can be concluded that this test has not been met. 
 
For clarity, the proposed restaurant with drive thru facility (Use Class A3) is not considered to meet 
either of the exceptions (i and ii) set out in Policy E1. The standalone restaurant (with drive thru) 
would not be ancillary to any main business/industrial activity within the wider site. Similarly, the 
proposed A3 use does not accord with the small scale service activities of an industrial nature 
referred to in exception criterion ii). 
 
Policy E1 reflects the main thrust of Strategic Policy S9 Employment Site Provisions to protect 
existing employment land from alternative developments. Whilst the applicant has provided a 
detailed and considered case in response to the ‘in principle’ concerns raised, it cannot be 
concluded on balance the proposed development complies with Policy E1. It is therefore contrary 
to the provisions and aims of the LDP that seeks to ensure there is an appropriate portfolio of 
employment land and premises that should be safeguarded from competing uses and provides for 
a sufficient quality, range and choice.  
 
6.1.2 Impact on the Town Centre  
 
The drive-thru restaurant is an A3 use. LDP Policy RET4 relates to new retail and commercial 
leisure/entertainment developments and states the preferred location of such proposals is within 
Central Shopping Areas (CSAs). Policy RET4 must be considered in full along with national 
planning policy set out in PPW4. 
 
Policy RET4 - New Retail Proposals 
The preferred location for new retail and commercial leisure /entertainment developments (not 
covered by Policy RET3 Neighbourhood Centres), including extensions to existing retail premises, 
will be in the designated Central Shopping Areas (CSAs). Where it can be demonstrated that no 
suitable sites exist in the CSA, then sites on the edge of the CSA should be considered before 
finally considering out-of-town sites. Where development outside the CSA is considered the 
proposal will be assessed against the following criteria: 
a) a demonstrable need exists for the proposed development; 
b) the proposed development, either individually or cumulatively with other recent or proposed 
developments, would not have a detrimental impact on the trade /turnover, vitality and viability 
of town, local or neighbourhood centres; 
c) the proposed development is of an appropriate scale and type to the size, character and 
function of the centre and its position in the retail hierarchy; 
d) the proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on future public or private 
investment needed to safeguard vitality and viability of the centres; 
e) the proposal is in a location accessible to public transport facilities; 
f) the proposal is not on land allocated for other uses. This especially applies to land designated 
for industry, employment and housing, where retail development can be shown to limit the range 
and quality of sites for such uses. 
 
In undertaking a Town Centres First sequential assessment, it is important to consider from the 
outset, the commercial need that the proposed development is seeking to meet. In this case, 
McDonald's has a requirement for a new drive-thru restaurant to serve the catchment area of 

Page 45



Chepstow and Caldicot which would also serve commuters travelling through South-East Wales 
and between Wales and England along the M48. The subject site is ideally located, immediately 
south of Chepstow and on the western gateway into Wales from the Severn Bridge. McDonald's 
does not consider that the centres of any towns in the south of Monmouthshire would provide 
sufficient footfall to make a restaurant viable, without the provision of a drive-thru to capture 
additional custom. 
 
Therefore, the proposed restaurant with associated surface level car parking and drive-thru 
responds to the specific business model requirements of McDonalds in this location. As such, in 
undertaking the sequential approach, consideration has been given to whether the potential 
alternative sites could accommodate the proposed development in its entirety, as the components 
of the proposed development do not need to be disaggregated for this purpose.  
 
In respect of identifying sites to include in sequential assessments, TAN4 confirms that 
"developers and retailers should be flexible and innovative about the format, design and scale of 
proposed development" (paragraph 7.5). This guidance is consistent with the legal judgement 
Tesco Stores Ltd v Dundee City Council Supreme Court Judgement on 21 March 2012 which is 
binding to local planning authorities across the UK confirmed that the understanding of what is 
suitable (in the context of the sequential test) is not a matter of planning judgement, but of legal 
interpretation. As such, if a developer of an out-of-centre has demonstrated a degree of flexibility 
in assessing whether they are available and suitable, the sequential test is satisfied.  
In addition, the Inspector considering an appeal against a refusal of planning permission for a 
drive-thru restaurant at Treloggan Road, Newquay stated "it is difficult to envisage how a 
developer could be flexible in respect of the format of a drive through restaurant. Unlike a 
conventional restaurant, which could easily be accommodated on any of the identified sites, a 
drive through by definition requires vehicular access and circulation through or around the 
building."  
 
McDonald's has specific locational requirements for a drive-thru restaurant that can serve both the 
Chepstow and Caldicot catchment areas, but it also needs to be well placed to capture passing 
trade along the M48. Its business model is such that it requires strong levels of passing trade and 
an appropriate catchment population. 
 
The supporting information states that the Town Centres First sequential assessment has 
considered the available sites and land within the following CSA and Neighbourhood Centres: 1 
Chepstow Central Shopping Area; 2 Caldicot Central Shopping Area; 3 Bulwark Neighbourhood 
Centre; 4 Thornwell Neighbourhood Centre, 5 West End Neighbourhood Centre. 
 
In summary, the alternative sites presented were either too small in size (including consideration 
given to the amalgamation of units);  unable to accommodate a drive-thru lane or surface area 
parking; and, unable to meet the commercial requirements of McDonald's to service the residents 
of Chepstow, the wider south Monmouthshire area, and motorists along the M48. On this basis, 
any development in the locations assessed could not meet the commercial requirements of 
McDonalds for a new restaurant and were not suitable for development.  
 
It has been concluded that there are no sequentially preferable development sites within the 
Central Shopping Areas or Neighbourhood Centres identified through the Town Centres First 
assessment. Whilst a small number of potential alternative sites were identified, it has been 
established that none were suitable and/or available to accommodate the proposed development. 
On this basis, it is concluded that the proposal meets the town centres first sequential assessment 
requirements of Future Wales, PPW and the Monmouthshire LDP. Contrary to this, the site at 
Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate fulfils this requirement and meets an identified need by the 
business.  
 
Policy RET4 sets out additional criteria that must be met for new out-of-centre retail proposals. 
These are considered in turn below:  
 
a) A demonstrable need exists for the proposed development 
 

Page 46



PPW has recently been amended to provide clarity on the types of development that are required 
to consider the need for commercial developments in out-of-centre locations. Paragraph 4.3.13 
confirms that a Retail Needs Assessment is not required for A3 use, stating "needs tests only 
apply to retail uses and do not apply to other uses which are complementary to town and city 
centres". The adopted Monmouthshire LDP is therefore not in accordance with national policy and 
there should be no requirement to carry out a needs assessment for the use. Nevertheless, the 
need for the development proposed has been set out in the supporting information provided. The 
operational need is based on location, McDonalds makes the case for a new restaurant in this 
location; this is a business case, the reference to need expressed by potential users is supported 
by the responses to the public consultation.  
There is no evidence to the contrary. 
 
b) The proposed development, either individually or cumulatively with other recent or proposed 
developments, would not have a detrimental impact on the trade/turnover, vitality and viability of 
town, local or neighbourhood centres. 
 
PPW provides clarity on the types of development that are required to consider the impact of a 
proposed commercial development on the vitality and viability of a town centre. Paragraph 4.3.26 
of PPW limits the need for retail impact assessments to be undertaken for retail planning 
applications of 2,500sqm or more gross floorspace (this proposal is 371sqm). Paragraph 4.3.27 
continues that planning authorities may consider that a retail impact assessment is needed for 
smaller retail planning applications but that these should be proportionate to potential impacts.  
There is concern that the proposed development will have a negative impact on the vitality and 
viability of nearby centres. 
However, the applicant's response is that many customers will comprise those already on the road 
network and the proposed development would not draw customers away from the centres. There 
is a recognition by the agent as referenced above that the model that drives the location 
requirement is (in addition to servicing passing traffic on the M48) to serve the catchment of 
Chepstow and Caldicot, with customers visiting from these areas, although it is argued that this will 
not draw customers away from existing A3 uses within these towns as these are the visitors that 
would have otherwise visited the McDonalds in Magor or Bristol.  
  
The supporting information makes the following points regarding this matter: 
 
The proposal comprises an A3 use and therefore would not include comparison retail floorspace, 
i.e., the type of uses retail impact assessments typically look to control (as per PPW).  
The surrounding context, i.e., the Industrial Estate also has fundamentally different characteristics 
to Town and Neighbourhood Centre, and the roadside nature of the proposed development differs 
from a town centre operation. As such, the proposed drive-thru restaurant would not compete 
directly with or divert any material levels of trade from Chepstow Town Centre. 
In considering the potential for impact on existing businesses it is important to also consider the 
types of A3 food and beverage units already operating in nearby CSAs and Neighbourhood 
Centres. McDonald's is a national and market-leading quick service restaurant which has specific 
requirements for identifying locations for new restaurants, it is stated in the supporting information 
that McDonald's does not take other quick service restaurants operating in an area into account 
when identifying new locations. This is because they have a specific market focus which does not 
compete with independent restaurants, or even other fast-food options. As such, even if residents 
were to make a specific trip to the new McDonald's, this would not be in place of a trip to 
Chepstow, or another Neighbourhood Centre. Given the specific market focus of McDonald's, the 
proposed development would not compete with neighbour centres and therefore would not impact 
on their vitality or viability. It can be concluded in the absence of conflicting evidence that the 
proposal would not have a detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of town, local or 
neighbourhood centres.  
 
c) The proposed development is of an appropriate scale and type to the size, character and 
function of the centre and its position in the retail hierarchy  
 

Page 47



The development is of a very similar scale to the drive thru restaurant that has been approved on 
the adjacent site. The scale sits comfortably on the plot and given the scale of development within 
the Industrial Estate, would be subservient to the wider industrial presence. 
 
d)The proposed development would not have a detrimental impact on future public or private 
investment needed to safeguard the vitality and viability of the centres  
 
There is no basis for any concern that the proposed development would have a detrimental impact 
on future public or private investment needed to safeguard the vitality and viability of the centres. 
As stated by the agent, the ability of McDonalds to deliver a restaurant in Chepstow is contingent 
on a development site being able to accommodate a drive-thru facility. As such its provision here 
provides a complementary use that captures a different need to the traditional high street visitor 
seeking food and beverage facilities. 
 
The proposal fails to meet this criterion. 
 
e) The proposal is in a location accessible to public transport facilities.  
  
Planning Policy Wales sets out a transport hierarchy, which puts public transport at second priority 
after active travel. It states that "proposals must seek to maximise accessibility by walking, cycling 
and public transport, by prioritising the provision of appropriate on-site infrastructure and, where 
necessary, mitigating transport impacts through the provision of off-site measures, such as the 
development of active travel routes, bus priority infrastructure and financial" (4.1.11).  
Section 4.1.17 gives further practical examples of how this should be done"… then consider 
whether new development could be located near a bus stop or enable improvements to the bus 
service; before finally considering the needs of private motor vehicles”.   
MCC planning policy (S16) states that "Where appropriate, all development proposals shall 
promote sustainable, safe forms of transport which reduce the need to travel, increase provision 
for walking and cycling and improve public transport provision. This will be facilitated by:   
- Reducing the need to travel, especially by car;   
- Favouring development close to public transport facilities;   
- Promoting public transport, walking and cycling; …"   
  
It is stated in the supporting information that the proposal is in a location accessible to public 
transport facilities. The nearest bus stop is located 800m walking distance north of the site; this 
accesses bus service (C1) that provides access to the nearby town of Chepstow.   
However, there is a clear objection from the MCC Public Transport Officer and contrary to the 
assertion given in the supporting information for this application, the development is not served by 
public transport. Reference is made to the transport assessment, the walk distance to the nearest 
bus stop is more than 800m. This is twice the commonly accepted maximum distance to a bus 
stop of 400m, after which usage drops of dramatically. Furthermore, the transport assessment 
does not include any proposals to address the lack of public transport accessibility. It does not 
include proposals to maximise accessibility by public transport as required by PPW, neither does it 
promote improved public transport provision as required by the MCC LDP.  
  
The agent has responded to this objection with the following:  

• Paragraph 4.1.17 of Planning Policy Wales states   
“Different approaches to sustainable transport will be required in different parts of Wales, 
particularly in rural areas, and new development will need to reflect local circumstances. 
For example, a planning authority wishing to grow a rural village, despite it having limited 
public transport accessibility, could apply the transport hierarchy by: first considering how 
the location and design of new development could encourage walking and cycling to shops 
and services in the village centre; then consider whether new development could be 
located near a bus stop or enable improvements to the bus service; before finally 
considering the needs of private motor vehicles, including measures to encourage the use 
of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles.”  
The agent refers to this as an acknowledgment that some proposed development sites 
may have limited public transport, however they can be acceptable if the design of the 
development encourages walking and cycling. Reference is given to the proposed 

Page 48



measures for improvement to the Wales Coast Path and within the site (cycle parking and 
EV charging).  
Also, the agent has stated: 
“The walking distances to the bus stops is shown on drawing 5353/SK/10 attached. The 
distances are 702m to the bus stops on Denbigh Drive and 852-858m to the bus stops on 
Conway Drive. This is approximately ½ a mile which is roughly a 10-minute walk. It is not 
considered that this level of walking distance would be unreasonable for restaurant staff”  
The Active Travel Act Guidance July 2021 Table 4.1 shows that people will likely walk less 
than 1 mile for utility journeys. It is considered a utility journey to work which could include 
reasonably this walking distance to/from a bus stop. There is no specific distance to a bus 
stop requirement cited in; Planning Policy Wales (2024), TAN 18, the Active Travel Act 
Guidance or Monmouthshire Adopted Local Development Plan (2014). Whilst 400m is a 
preferred distance there is no policy basis to object to this development due to the bus 
stops being located further in these circumstances.  
  

However, it is not disputed that that “some proposed development sites may have limited public 
transport, but they can be acceptable in planning terms if the design of the development 
encourages walking and cycling”. This accords with the transport hierarchy as set out in the Wales 
Transport Strategy.  However, as covered in this report, there is indeed an offer to improve the 
active travel route and PROW, although this is not acceptable given the location of the site, the 
unsatisfactory route design and the existence of a significantly shorter alternative route that 
crosses the M48 slip roads. It cannot be argued in this case that the development strongly favours 
walking and cycling.  
   
The agent states that 800m is a reasonable distance to walk, and that there is no policy basis for 
400m. However, PPW and MCC LDP policy specifically refer to ‘near a bus stop’ or ‘close to public 
transport facilities’. The stated distance of 400m has been considered relevant since the 
Department of Environment Circular 82/73 (DOE, 1973). This has been reiterated repeatedly 
since, for example in the Institution of Highways & Transportation Guidelines for Providing 
Journeys on Foot (2000) and the Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation Buses in 
Urban Developments (2007).  
 
“IHT (1999) bases its recommended walking distance to a bus stop on DoE Circular 82/73. This 
circular advised that “Estates should be designed so that the walking distance along the footpath 
system to the bus stops should not be more than 400m from the furthest houses and work places 
that they serve” (DoE, 1973, para 4.3).” (‘How far do people walk’ Para 1.14 WYG Environment 
Planning Transport Limited presented at the PTRC Transport Practitioners’ Meeting London, July 
2015) 

 
The agent refers to the adjacent approved site (DM/2022/01155), the offering being 
commensurate with what has been delivered here and elsewhere on the industrial site.  However, 
it is noteworthy that the committee report for the adjacent approval states that the development 
proposals are unlikely to generate public transport trips by customers. The transport assessment 
for this site does not appear to make this claim, and given that the Council does not support the 
argument that this development strongly favours access by walking and cycling and the absence 
of any enabling improvements to the bus service, the proposal does not comply with the 
sustainable transport hierarchy as set out in PPW12.  
  
The agent also refers to the roadside nature of the development when considering this criterion, 
which mostly serves customers already on the local highway network and relies, to some extent, 
on arrival by motor vehicle. This was deemed acceptable in the consideration of planning 
permission DM/2022/01155 which also has only a proportionate reliance on public transport.  
  
"The nature of the development, being predominately a car borne destination serving the car user, 
means that customers would be unlikely to use public transport facilities. However, there is a 
pedestrian link to the site which is proposed to be upgraded with signposting and a new crossing 
to facilitate a safe crossing for those accessing the site by foot."  
(Planning Committee Report DM/2022/01155)  
  

Page 49



The approved scheme differs from the current proposal. In the case of the approved scheme the 
drive thru restaurant is just one part of a larger mixed use development, and would sit alongside 
the Euro Garages development that is principally a fuel station and serves car users from the M48. 
With this current application, this is a proposal for a drive thru restaurant only, a restaurant that is 
recognised in the supporting information that would serve the catchments for Chepstow and 
Caldicot as well as the commuters travelling along the M48 (this raises concerns regarding 
pedestrian and cycle access - this is addressed under active travel). This proposal is being 
assessed with regard to public transport provision and therefore it is reasonable to conclude that 
the potential customers from the surrounding catchment areas should be able to access the site 
via public transport for all the reasons set out above.   
 
The proposal fails to meet this criterion. 
 
f) the proposal is not on land allocated for other uses. This especially applies to land designated 
for industry, employment and housing, where retail development can be shown to limit the range 
and quality of sites for such use 
 
The site is located within an allocated Protected Employment Area. The proposed restaurant with 
drive thru facility (Use Class A3) has been assessed against relevant policy and is not considered 
to meet either of the exceptions (i and ii) set out in Policy E1. The main thrust of Strategic Policy 
S9 - Employment Site Provisions is to protect existing employment land from alternative 
developments. It has been concluded on balance that the proposed development is contrary to the 
provisions and aims of the LDP that seek to ensure there is an appropriate portfolio of employment 
land and premises that can be safeguarded from competing uses and provides for a sufficient 
quality, range and choice.    
 
This proposal therefore fails this criterion. 
 
The proposed development passes the sequential tests. This is arguably a likely result given that 
drive-thru facilities, by their very nature, are designed for and attract high volumes of car traffic, 
with out-of-town, car-dependent sites passing the test. The proposed site meets the needs of the 
applicant as it is situated adjacent to the M48. It is recognised that in addition to the passing traffic, 
the development serves the catchments of Chepstow and Caldicot, although the proposal fails to 
meet the requirements  for delivering public transport (criterion e - the proposal is required to be in 
a location accessible to public transport facilities), the location is effectively designed around car 
accessibility rather than alternative transport modes. Finally, the proposal is sited on a protected 
employment site for B use class development which this policy purposely identifies as being 
unacceptable (criterion f). 
 
Policy RET4 - New retail proposals, reflects the main thrust of Strategic Policy S6 - Retail 
Hierarchy, that seeks to direct all new retail development into the County's main towns with the 
preferred location in the designated Central Shopping Areas (CSAs). Only where it can be 
demonstrated that no suitable sites exist in the CSA, or failing this edge of the CSA, should then 
out-of-town sites be considered subject to assessment against the given criteria.  
The proposal contravenes criteria e) and f) and fails to comply with the relevant planning policy in 
this case.   
 
6.2 Sustainability 
There has been supporting information provided that lists the measures the applicants propose to 
undertake to deliver on sustainability measures. These generally relate to the credentials of how 
they operate as opposed to the environmental implication of the choice of location.  
 
To meet these targets, McDonalds buy 100% renewable electricity and have invested in long term 
partnership agreements to develop the renewable energy infrastructure in the UK. The absence of 
on-site fossil fuel use, together with McDonalds’ electricity procurement agreements, eliminates 
the production of greenhouse gases from on-site operations. In recognition of global warming 
potential ("GWP") associated with refrigeration gases, McDonalds have moved to the latest 
reduced GWP air conditioning refrigerants ahead of any legislation in this regard. 
 

Page 50



It is also stated that the design of the new building has been directly influenced by sustainability 
and the standard practices to enable the reduction in their carbon footprint. Approximately 90% of 
new restaurants are built using modular construction techniques, which use considerably less 
energy, inclusive of the reduction of the total number of deliveries to site during the build. Modular 
construction takes place in a controlled environment, which allows a highly monitored and 
efficient process, where leftover materials can be used in future projects and ultimately reduce the 
general building waste. The construction time is also reduced, minimising the potential disruption 
to neighbours. 
 
However, ultimately this proposal is for an out-of-town drive thru restaurant immediately adjacent 
to the M48 that is accessed by the car with no meaningful provision for public transport. This 
represents a development that overwhelmingly serves the car user, which becomes significantly 
more apparent when the issue of active travel is assessed below. 
 
Therefore, whilst operationally the applicant seeks to function with initiatives that reduce the 
carbon footprint, this becomes insignificant when compared with the choice of location which in 
this case, by reason of the lack of effective provision for sustainable transport facilitates, caters for 
the car user which runs contrary to national planning policy. 
 
6.2.1 Good Design 
 
The restaurant building is a single storey building, constructed in a contemporary form with muted 
colours applied with the external materials. The building will not appear out of keeping given its 
location in an industrial estate which is characterised by one to three storey warehousing 
buildings, the building is likely to appear subservient to the surrounding development, including the 
consented development to the north, once built out. 
There is a landscaping scheme that will serve to soften the development, and subject to control of 
lighting and external advertisements (scale and illumination) the design of the proposal is 
acceptable and complies with LDP Policy DES1. 
 
6.2.2 Heritage 
 
The site does not fall within a Conservation Area, and it does not contain any designated heritage 
assets. There are no designated heritage assets within close proximity of the site.  
 
6.2.3 Green Infrastructure 
 
Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 12 highlights that a Green Infrastructure (GI) statement 
should be submitted with all planning applications and will be proportionate to the scale and nature 
of the development. The statement which will need to be informed by a GI assessment of the site 
will describe how green infrastructure will be incorporated into the proposal and how the step wise 
approach to protecting biodiversity, habitats and GI onsite will be managed.  A step wise approach 
considers what impacts may occur as a result development activity to any identified biodiversity, 
habitats and green infrastructure assets and networks that may be present on or bounding a site. 
The approach then seeks to manage any harm that may occur by (a) avoiding (b) minimising (c) 
Mitigate / Restore. 
 
A Green Infrastructure Statement has been submitted to inform the application. The tree planting 
and grassland enhancement has been considered as mitigation for habitat loss, in line with the 
stepwise approach detailed in PPW12, and therefore not considered above.  
The 'Soft Landscaping' plans detail the provision of native species hedgerow to the east and south 
of the site. The proposed species and management of the hedgerows is considered acceptable. 
The plans also include the provision of a drainage basin which is primarily situated for SuDS 
purposes; this is to be planted with aquatic marginal vegetation which will also provide a degree of 
biodiversity enhancement. The Landscape and Ecological Management Plan confirm a cutting 
schedule of management. Several scattered mature trees are located within the site boundary and 
it is understood that twelve trees will be removed and replaced with a minimum of 36. It is also 
proposed to plant 41 whips to mitigate for clearance of 0.0245ha of land. Other habitat on site 
includes patches of semi-improved grassland, scrub and a drainage ditch.  

Page 51



 
6.3 Landscape 
 
This application has been supported with a landscape and visual appraisal. This report concludes 
that the receptors most likely to experience elevated effects (defined as moderate or above) are 
confined to within the site itself or within the immediate vicinity of the site. These receptors include 
users of the Wales Coast Path. The site is extremely well contained from a visual perspective, 
particularly to the north, the embankment and mature vegetation shielding it from view. The site 
benefits from many trees, the majority are situated on the border of the site, twelve trees that are 
proposed to be removed are all young and some semi mature and these are to be mitigated by the 
planting of 36 trees and 41 whips. To the south, the views are obscured by large industrial sheds 
and containers.  
 
There will be a change in character as a result of this development as this green wedge 
incorporates the proposed development. However, given the character of this site and its wider 
context being defined by large industrial features including industrial sheds, containers, electricity 
pylons, these serve to distract the limited viewpoints that can be achieved into the site. Whilst the 
localised viewpoints that can be achieved of the site is of a much small-scale commercial 
development that integrates into the local context, this is supported by the conclusion in the LVA 
that the site has the capacity for the proposal and that there is no 'in principle' or policy landscape 
or visual reason why it should not be developed. The proposal complies with relevant planning 
policy in this case. 
 
6.5 Biodiversity 
 
An Ecological Appraisal report by the Environmental Dimension Partnership (EDP) has been 
submitted to inform the application. The report details the results of an extended phase 1 habitat 
survey and preliminary ground level roost assessment of trees for roosting suitability.  The site was 
assessed to have low suitability to support foraging and commuting bats due to the managed 
nature of the site and disturbance from adjacent infrastructure. There were several trees on and 
adjacent to the site were identified as holding potential to support roosting bats, the majority of 
these will be retained within the proposed development. There is one tree (T10) which was 
assessed as holding potential for roosting bats to be felled to facilitate the construction of the 
proposed SuDS, it has been recommended that a soft-felling technique is adopted during removal 
to avoid destruction or disturbance of a bat roost and as mitigation for the loss of potential roosting 
features. There are two-crevice roosting bat boxes proposed to be installed on retained trees 
within the site.  
Regarding other protected species, there are several dormice records within close proximity of the 
site, there is a potential impact as proposals will involve cutting back approximately 28m of scrub 
where dormice are assumed to be present. It has been recommended that vegetation clearance is 
undertaken under the guidance of a non-licenced method statement outlining a series of 
precautionary work measures. It was previously concluded that “there is no significant light spill 
anticipated to impact suitable adjacent habitats”. However, following re-consultation (relating to the 
Transport Assessment report) there are concerns raised to the indicative lighting plan which 
proposes additional lighting along the route from the application site to the underpass due to 
impacts on habitat likely to support Dormouse. However, the final details have not been confirmed, 
this is an ‘in-principle’ offer to improve the path which the agent has requested be resolved via 
S106 agreement and/or Grampian condition. If lighting outside the redline boundary is necessary it 
must be designed to minimise impacts on retained and new ecological habitats, informed by 
proper assessment and lux plans demonstrating light spill.  
 
The ecological appraisal confirms that breeding bird surveys have been scoped out. However, 
habitat on mature trees and scrub are likely to support nesting bird species which are protected 
from destruction under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981. Any construction works should be 
undertaken outside of the nesting bird season (March - August). If this is not possible, then a pre-
works nesting bird check by an experienced ecologist should be undertaken to ensure that there is 
no breach of wildlife legislation. The provision of additional native scrub/hedgerow planting, as well 
as sensitive management of grassland habitat, should provide breeding and foraging habitat for 
more common bird species. 

Page 52



 
6.5.2 PPW 12 sets out that the planning system has a key role to play in helping to reverse the 
decline in biodiversity and increase the resilience of ecosystems, at various scales, by ensuring 
appropriate mechanisms are in place to both protect against loss and to secure enhancement. The 
planning system should ensure that overall there is a net benefit for biodiversity and ecosystem 
resilience, resulting in enhanced wellbeing. 
 
Biodiversity Net Benefit Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 12 sets out that "planning authorities must 
seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or 
nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity" (para 6.4.5 refers). This policy and 
subsequent policies in Chapter 6 of PPW 12 respond to the Section 6 Duty of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.  
To site has been classified as amenity grassland, most of the grassland will be lost as a result of 
the proposal. To mitigate for a loss of grassland, it is proposed that 'retained amenity grassland 
and poor semi-improved grassland will be enhanced, creating areas of species-rich meadow 
grassland.' The commitment for long-term improvement of areas of the grassland is welcomed 
including management proposals with a commitment for monitoring/remediation. Several scattered 
mature trees are located within the site boundary, twelve trees will be removed, to mitigate for the 
loss of these trees 36 individual broadleaved trees will be planted. The use of mostly native 
species is welcomed and considered acceptable mitigation for the loss of trees proposed. Also, 
this proposal offers other habitat on site including patches of semi-improved grassland, scrub and 
a drainage ditch.  
 
The 'Soft Landscaping' plans detail the provision of native species hedgerow to the east and south 
of the site. The proposed species and management of the hedgerows is considered acceptable. 
The plans also include the provision of a drainage basin this will provide a degree of biodiversity 
enhancement. A reptile hibernaculum is proposed to be created in the south-east of the site to 
provide overwintering habitat for reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs. This together with the 
provision of permanently wet habitat elsewhere on site, should provide an enhancement of the site 
for these species. Three bird boxes will be installed on retained trees within the site boundary. The 
specification of these boxes has not been detailed within the LEMP. The Ecological enhancement 
offering is compliant with planning policy 
 
6.5.4 Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 it is necessary to 
consider whether the development should be subject to a Habitat Regulations Assessment. This is 
reference to the impact of increased concentrations of Phosphates on designated SAC's. NRW 
has set new phosphate standards for the riverine SACs of the Wye and Usk and their catchment 
areas. Development that may increase the concentration of phosphates levels will be subject to 
appropriate assessment and HRA. 

6.5.5 This application is outside of the SAC catchment and so will not have a detrimental impact 
on any protected SAC, and as a result no further assessment is required. 

6.6 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
The closest residential property is c.350m from the site but is separated by the M48 so it is not 
considered the proposal would cause any unacceptable harm to local amenity or health. The 
anticipated amenity impacts of the proposed development are appropriate within its context of 
being in an industrial estate.  
 
There are no sensitive receptors near the site which is separated from the nearest settlement of 
Thornwell by the M48 and Chepstow junction roundabout. As such the proposed development 
would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity or health of residents of Thornwell or 
Bulwark. The proposal complies with relevant planning policy.  
 
6.6.1 Public Rights of Way 
 

Page 53



There has been considerable discussion between this Council PROW officer, the landowner and 
applicants and agents regarding the site and the unrecorded public right of way that crosses the 
site. The proposed new route is partly satisfactory in this case. There is currently a qualified 
objection from the PROW officer to the proposal, (namely an objection that can be removed if 
changes are made that address the concerns raised with the proposed scheme). 
There are serious concerns on where the new constructed route joins into the existing 
infrastructure on the west side of the site. The new alignment for the public right of way is to be 
constructed to a standard to accept cycle use, however, where this route rejoins the existing cycle 
route, it looks to create both a dog-leg and a gap between the two. A legal order has been agreed 
to be undertaken to move the unrecorded public right of way onto the proposed alignment, and 
should planning be approved, no construction should take place until an application to move the 
unrecorded route has been confirmed. However, the route remains unacceptable.  
There are two options, one is to link the public rights of way; this is outside the red line but in the 
same ownership so could be secured via a S106 agreement. The alternative and simpler route 
which is within the red line boundary is to continue with the primary cycle route, with a flowing 
connection between existing street-lit section of the Wales Coast Path (WCP) and proposed route 
(so that the WCP is a continuous line), with a junction to branch off to a lower, unrecorded public 
right of way (junctions should be bevelled or given corner radii of 1m; updated Active Travel Act 
guidance has been issued for shared use away from road). The WCP is disjointed in its current 
design. 
In both cases the applicant has not agreed to these changes required to remove the objection from 
the PROW officer.  
Whilst a PROW is not, per se, an active travel route, the route however is the same, as the active 
travel route relies on the Wales Coast Path to provide the routes to the site and the surrounding 
area - this is addressed further under Para 6.7.2 below.   
  
6.7 Transport  
 
6.7.1 Sustainable Transport Hierarchy 
 
A Transport Assessment submitted with the application has undertaken an assessment of the 
public transport delivery to this site. This has been addressed in full under Para 6.1.2 Impact on 
Town Centre, (reference compliance with LDP Policy RET4 criteria e)). 
 
There are bus stops located on Denbigh Drive. The bus stop is located 800m walking distance 
(approximately 10 minutes) north of the site via the underpass. The bus stop is equipped with post 
only. The site is served by 1 or 2 buses per hour to/from Chepstow on Monday to Saturday 
daytime hours. There are no services from this stop on Mon-Sat evenings and Sundays. The 
nearest stop with a service on Mon-Sat evenings and Sundays is a further 140m. The supporting 
information with this application has concluded that the site therefore benefits from a reasonable 
level of public transport accessibility and the accessibility of the site is commensurate with the 
existing Industrial Estate and that that was deemed acceptable for the Euro Garages site. 
 
In this case there has been a substantive objection by the Public Transport officer. It is the 
contention of the Council that the development is not appropriately served by public transport.  
Planning Policy Wales sets out a transport hierarchy, which puts public transport at second priority 
after active travel. It states that "proposals must seek to maximise accessibility by walking, cycling 
and public transport, by prioritising the provision of appropriate on-site infrastructure and, where 
necessary, mitigating transport impacts through the provision of off-site measures, such as the 
development of active travel routes, bus priority infrastructure and financial support for public 
transport services " (4.1.11). Section 4.1.17 gives further practical examples of how this should be 
done"… then consider whether new development could be located near a bus stop or enable 
improvements to the bus service; before finally considering the needs of private motor vehicles, 
including measures".  
MCC Policy S16 states that "Where appropriate, all development proposals shall promote 
sustainable, safe forms of transport which reduce the need to travel, increase provision for walking 
and cycling and improve public transport provision. This will be facilitated by:  
- Reducing the need to travel, especially by car;  
- Favouring development close to public transport facilities;  

Page 54



- Promoting public transport, walking and cycling; …"  
 As set out in the transport assessment, the walk distance to the nearest bus stop is more than 
800m. This is twice the commonly accepted maximum distance to a bus stop of 400m, after which 
usage drops of dramatically. In the absence of any proposals to address the shortfall in public 
transport accessibility as required by PPW, or measures to promote improved public transport 
provision as required by the MCC LDP, the proposed development site is not considered to be 
appropriately accessible by public transport. The proposal is thus contrary to MCC Policy S16 and 
National Guidance (PPW12 Para 4.1.11) 
 
6.7.2 Active Travel  
 
The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 is carried out through adherence to the Active Travel Act 
Guidance (ATAG). ATAG Section 7.6 outlines responsibilities towards active travel in relation to 
new developments and refers to Planning Policy Wales and is in line with the MCC Sustainable 
Transport policy.  
 
7.6.3 The design of development proposals shall, in accordance with the sustainable transport 
hierarchy, start with identifying the shortest, most attractive walking and cycling connections and 
then addressing the other transport needs.  
 
Planning Policy Wales 12 
 
4.1.11 Development proposals must seek to maximise accessibility by walking, cycling and public 
transport, by prioritising the provision of appropriate on site infrastructure and, where necessary, 
mitigating transport impacts through the provision of off site measures, such as the development of 
active travel routes, bus priority infrastructure and financial support for public transport services. 
Importantly, sustainable transport infrastructure and services should be prioritised and put in place 
from the outset, before people have moved in and travel patterns have been established.  
 
4.1.33 Development plans must identify and safeguard active travel routes and networks, including 
those identified in the Integrated Network Maps required by the Active Travel Act, and support 
their delivery. As part of the selection of future development sites, priority should be given to sites 
which can be readily connected to existing active travel routes or future networks. New 
development should be integrated with active travel networks and contribute to their expansion 
and improvement, through the inclusion of well designed routes and facilities as part of the 
schemes and financial contributions to pay for off site connections. 
 
The Transport Assessment submitted with the application states the following with reference to 
pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
The site benefits from the existing pedestrian and cycle infrastructure serving the Newhouse Farm 
Industrial Estate. There is a shared footway/cycleway running through the site. This is not 
registered as a Public Right of Way (PROW) the pathway is well used and forms part of the wider 
Wales Coast Path which runs along the northern boundary of the Industrial Estate and passes 
through the site from its west and eastern boundaries. 
 
There are no footways on Loverose Way, it is proposed that a pedestrian access would be 
provided from the existing Wales Coast Path footway/cycleway which currently runs through the 
site from Loverose Way to Caerwent Lane which provides a pedestrian/cycle link to Thornwell. 
The footway/cycleway utilises an underpass that runs underneath the M48. The footway/cycleway 
continues to the M48 Junction 2 where there is an uncontrolled crossing facility with tactile paving, 
guard railing and a refuge on the Conway Drive arm. An audit of the section of the existing Wales 
Coast Path which runs from the underpass and through the site was undertaken; this revealed that 
the surface of the path is generally in good condition but could be improved at given points. There 
are no existing lighting facilities. There is vegetation along the path which could be trimmed back 
to provide better clearance for pedestrians and cyclists. There are improvements secured from the 
Euro Garages development which will fund signage improvements to the Wales Coast Path to 
direct pedestrian/cyclists to the underpass.  
 

Page 55



An isochrone plan showing an 800m (10 minute) walking distance from the site is included in the 
supporting information. This demonstrates that the pedestrian catchment for the site would be 
predominantly the existing Industrial Estate and potentially the southern part of Thornwell. The 
traffic assessment concludes from this that the scope for the site attracting significant pedestrian 
trips is therefore limited by the lack of surrounding residential development with pedestrians being 
predominantly existing staff from the Industrial Estate with potentially a small number of customers 
from Thornwell.  
 
A plan has also been provided showing the local cycle routes on Caerwent Lane that provide 
connections to the Industrial Estate and the residential areas of Thornwell. Pedestrian and cycle 
access will be provided from the underpass connecting the Industrial Estate to Thornwell and 
Bulwark. 
 
This pedestrian route is to be improved by rerouting the existing pathway that crosses the site to 
run around the restaurant building and to formalise it as a PROW as a 3m width Shared Use Path. 
However, there are concerns with the links at both ends; there is a missing link in the chain with a 
small section outside of the red line that has not been joined up.  
 
Sections of the existing pathway are currently in very poor condition and are not suitable for users 
with mobility challenges or for cyclists; a multi-user pathway is proposed a width of 3m minimum, 
this would improve access because of the development.  
Ten cycle parking spaces would also be provided, six of which would be covered. 
 
There are improvements proposed within the red line boundary including resurfacing and lighting. 
As part of the Transport Assessment, wider improvement to the Coast Path is proposed outside 
the red line boundary with additional lighting to run along the stretch of that path from the 
application site to the underpass. This has not been submitted with any level of detail; the final 
detail to deliver a multi-user route outside of the site with the associated infrastructure as proposed 
is to be resolved through legal agreement and/or a Grampian condition as these works would be 
offsite works, offered by the applicant as a wider benefit of the planning permission.  
 
There have been ongoing discussions with the agents and the Council's PROW, Active Travel and 
Planning team regarding improvements to the route. As explained under Public Rights of way 
para. 6.6.2 above, this application does present the opportunity to formalise the historical 
pedestrian crossing that passes through this site.  There is improvement proposed which is 
welcomed, although it stops short literally and does not physically join with the path outside the red 
line boundary. 
 There are opportunities to make significant localised improvements to this proposed PROW which 
have not been taken up despite requests during this application to do so. This has resulted 
effectively in a less than satisfactory route for the Wales Coast Path as connection on the south-
west corner of site joins an awkward angled junction, affecting the route's coherence. Requests 
have been made to make the primary path continuous, with a flowing connection between the 
existing street-lit section of the WCP and the proposed route; this comes within the red line 
boundary so that the Welsh Coast Path is a continuous line, with a junction to branch off to the 
lower path. The current design is disjointed, needlessly so, as it is within the applicant’s gift to 
undertake the changes required; the opportunities are within the site boundary to make the 
improvements as requested. There are further concerns that the 60cm knee rail on the north-west 
site entrance will be evaded as people use a desire-line between the WCP connection to north-
west and the restaurant. Furthermore, there is concern that customers entering the site from the 
industrial estate to the south-west are currently supposed to walk around the site to enter it, 
inevitably leading to a risk of informal tracks between the path and car park, that will affect the 
quality of experience on the path, and create a risk at the car park. The request for an additional 
pedestrian access to be provided between the path and the car park on the south side has been 
made but not delivered. 
 
Finally, there are clear concerns given the location of this site and the likelihood that people will 
attempt to reach it on foot by crossing the trunk roads and M48 roundabout. 'The Proposed route' 
does not provide a significant shortening of the pedestrian route, and the desire line of pedestrians 
is up the road towards the motorway junction. This desire line is significantly shorter than the 

Page 56



alternative proposed and the directness of this route is a significant draw.  From the options 
shown, "The Proposed Route" namely through the underpass and along the Coast path is the only 
route which may mitigate some of the risk with suitable path grading on the slope, but this is still 
significantly longer than the on-road route. The 'Proposed Route' is also less visible and less 
overlooked. In combination with the hours of business, potential employee-base and customer-
base, this raises serious concern about the increased risk of pedestrians accessing the site via the 
motorway junction route. 
 
There are measures for improvement proposed, although these improvements still do not address 
the fundamental concern that this site particularly in addition to the adjacent approved scheme for 
a drive thru restaurant provides a destination point that many will access on foot via the shortest 
direct route possible, namely across the motorway junction. The alternative provided is not short 
enough or attractive enough to provide a suitable alternative.  
 
It is argued by the agent that because of the localised improvements to the Welsh Coast Path the 
site is reasonably accessible by walking and cycling, given its roadside location and the 
accessibility of the site is commensurate with the existing Industrial Estate and that deemed 
acceptable for the Euro Garages site. It is noteworthy that MCC Highways have recognised the 
concerns over the Active Travel route for this site, although they consider that the link proposed is 
acceptable, on balance, since a pedestrian route towards the M48 junction cannot be promoted. 
Reference is also made to the traffic assessment and the pedestrian survey showing that very few 
pedestrians attempt to cross the M48 junction, with 23 out of 792 movements (2.9%) recorded 
during a three-day period, excluding the extraneous Saturday Park-run results. However, this 
pedestrian data is inconclusive as this is not an assessment of pedestrian traffic drawn to the drive 
thru restaurants(s); this surveys people accessing the industrial estate, a different demographic 
and age and not necessarily relevant to the potential customer base that will access the proposed 
development on foot or cycle.   
 
Reference is made to an appeal decision (Appeal Ref: APP/Y3425/W/25/3364648, Land off A34 
opposite George & Dragon PH, Stone Road, Meaford, Staffordshire, ST15 0PX). Appeal 
dismissed 30 June 2025. Inspector Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI.  
 
The appeal was made by George Developments Limited against the decision of Stafford Borough 
Council. The development proposed is creation of an Electric Vehicle Charging Hub comprising 31 
charging bays equipped with solar panels and a substation (Sui Generis), picnic areas and a drive-
through restaurant (Use Class E), with associated access, car and cycle parking, and landscaping. 
 
One of the main issues was whether the appeal site can be suitably and safely accessed by 
sustainable travel. It was considered that the proposed pedestrian crossing would be to the north 
of the appeal site some distance from the restaurant. The Inspector concurred with the Council 
that the desire line is likely to be much closer to both the restaurant and the established residential 
area close to the roundabout. The inspector considered that it is unlikely that residents would walk 
from the residential area down to the proposed crossing and then back towards the restaurant, but 
instead would attempt to cross the road near to the roundabout when they reach the road. This 
view was shared by the Highway Authority. The inspector stated, "I saw at my site visit that this is 
a busy environment and that attempts to cross the road without a pedestrian crossing, whether 
controlled or not, would be unsafe....Given its location near several large settlements, it would, in 
my view, attract customers solely to that facility rather than passing by on their journey," added 
Raygen. It was concluded that there would not be suitable access to the appeal site for all users 
which would result in harm to highway safety for pedestrians and cyclists attempting to access the 
restaurant (in conflict with paragraph 115 of the Framework). The Inspector concluded that the 
proposal would not be suitably accessed by sustainable travel modes leading to harm to highway 
safety. 
 
Further reference is made to Fife refusal of drive-thru restaurant, decision by Philip McLean 
(Planning appeal reference: PPA-250-2394)  Site address: Kathellan Home Farm, Kelty, KY4 0JR  
Appeal by Mr Ian Maclellan & TG Convenience Stores Ltd against the decision by Fife Council 
Application for planning permission 22/01040/FULL dated 22 March 2022 . The development 
proposed: roadside services development comprising of erection of a petrol filling station and 

Page 57



associated retail kiosk (class 1), jet washes, restaurant with drive-thru facility (class 3), site access 
arrangements, parking provision, electric vehicle charging points, landscaping and ancillary works.   
 
In relation to pedestrian access, there is no footway on the southern side of the B914 adjacent to 
the site. A footway exists on the northern side, which is a designated core path and is signed as a 
recreational route.  The proposal would link to this via a new uncontrolled pedestrian crossing, 
comprising dropped kerbs and a pedestrian refuge. However, walking to and from Kelty would 
require crossing the M90 motorway on- and off-slips as well as its overbridge, where vehicle 
restraint barriers reduce the footway width to less than a metre.  
The Inspector considered the route to feel unsafe. The appellant submitted that the nature of the 
proposal as a roadside services development means it would not attract significant numbers of 
pedestrians and hence the existing connection to Kelty is satisfactory with the addition of the 
proposed crossing. The Inspector questioned the assumption of pedestrian trips, notably referring 
to 1600m radius of the site which would include a significant proportion of Kelty around 20 
minutes' walk. It was considered that the proposed restaurant could result in a significant increase 
in pedestrian activity, especially by younger people.  
 
The relevance of this appeal decision comes from the importance attributed to the safety of the 
route, relevant as the shortest route is across the M48 junction and due to the reference to a 
1600m zone from the site which is used and will attract young people to the site. As stated above 
an isochrone plan has been provided showing an 800m (10 minute) walking distance from the site 
which demonstrates that the pedestrian catchment for the site would be predominantly the existing 
Industrial Estate and potentially the southern part of Thornwell concluding that the scope for the 
site attracting significant pedestrian trips is therefore limited.  However this zone is in touching 
distance of the higher density areas of Thornwell, Chepstow and if a 1600m zone was applied this 
would comfortably include a significant part of this residential area and a significant proportionate  
increase in potential pedestrian movement drawn to this site.   
In the case of Kelty, there was no deliverable solution for safe crossing facilities of the motorway 
slip roads that would not adversely affect the operational efficiency of the motorway junction and in 
the absence of mitigation measures the inspector was not satisfied that a safe pedestrian 
connection can be provided. It was also concluded that while a substantial proportion of customers 
might already be passing, there would likely also be some new trips, particularly to the restaurant.  
 
Given the inadequacy of the site's pedestrian connectivity, it follows the proposal may increase 
reliance on the private car for any new trips and would therefore not be consistent with the 
sustainable travel hierarchy.  
 
National guidance seeks to reduce the need to travel unsustainably, with transport requirements to 
be considered in line with the sustainable travel hierarchy. Proposals for significant travel 
generating uses will not be supported where they would increase reliance on the private car. The 
localised improvement does not address the existing deficiency or justify further development that 
would increase usage of the same inadequate infrastructure. 
 
The proposal fails to comply with national guidance and planning policy; there is insufficient 
evidence to demonstrate that the only safe pedestrian and cycle access is attractive enough to 
prevent visitors from accessing via the shorter route across the M48 roundabout.  The proposal 
does not accord with the sustainable travel hierarchy or overall would help address the global 
climate emergency. 
 
6.7.3 Access / Highway Safety 
 
Welsh Government as highway authority for the M48 motorway has not objected or supported the 
proposal subject to various conditions being imposed regarding interference with boundary fence, 
lighting, noise insulating measures and land drainage.   Amendments were submitted during this 
application in response to concerns over junction width from MCC Highway engineers. This has 
now been altered to allow access for HGV's without impeding exiting traffic. The proposal is 
acceptable subject to conditions and a S106 Agreement. The proposal complies with relevant 
planning policy accordingly. 
 

Page 58



6.7.4 Parking 
 
The proposal delivers a total of 53 spaces, above the minimum required under the MCC Local 
Parking Standards and includes space for waiting vehicles in the drive- thru and other forms of 
vehicle parking. Parking spaces are to be coned off during delivery, reducing available parking to 
32 spaces. However, this is accepted to be outside of peak hours. The proposal meets parking 
requirements in this case. 
 
6.9 Flooding 
 
There are flooding implications regarding this proposal. 
 
6.10 Drainage 
 
6.10.1 Foul Drainage 
 
There are no foul drainage implications. 
 
6.10.2 Surface Water Drainage 
 
The application has now demonstrated a means of surface water discharge to a watercourse. As 
the site will have a total construction area greater than 100m2, SAB approval will be required.  
 
6.5 Response to the Representations of Third Parties and/or Community/Town Council 
 
6.5.1 Most of the representations given including those by Chepstow Town Council are addressed 
under the relevant sections above. 
There are some issues that are not addressed.  

- Runners and obesity. 
There is an established informal path that crosses the site currently, this is not to be removed it is 
to be improved. Whilst the environment changes as this open area is developed out, the access 
and provision for runners remains and is not significantly affected by the proposal. 
  

- Obesity 
This has been raised by neighbours and ABHB. This is not a matter than can be addressed under 
planning legislation.  
 
6.6 Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
6.6.1 The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales 
has been considered, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act). In reaching this 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into 
account and it is considered that this recommendation is in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers' well-
being objectives set out in section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
6.7 Conclusion 
 
This proposal for a 371sqm (GEA) single storey McDonalds Restaurant with tandem drive thru 
facilities and a dual drive thru lane wrapping around the north of the restaurant has been assessed 
against National policy and the Monmouthshire LDP. There are several potential issues relating to 
landscaping, drainage, amenity and biodiversity that have been assessed in this report and are 
indeed policy compliant. The main point of contention relates to the loss of a protected 
employment site, retail impact, suitability of location and access via sustainable transport.  
 
Economic development is defined in PPW12 as the development of land and buildings for 
activities that generate sustainable long-term prosperity, jobs and incomes. The planning system 
should ensure that the growth of output and employment in Wales is not constrained by a shortage 

Page 59



of land for economic uses. PPW 12 states "wherever possible, planning authorities should 
encourage and support developments which generate economic prosperity and regeneration. 
Sites identified for employment use in a development plan should be protected from inappropriate 
development"(PPW12 5.4.4). Planning authorities should aim to "align jobs and services with 
housing and sustainable transport infrastructure, to reduce the need for travel, and dependency on 
travel by car, control and manage the release of unwanted employment sites to other uses" 
(PPW12 5.4.13). 
 
The application site is designated as a Protected Employment Site in the adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDP) (allocation: SAE2k) and the proposal to develop this site for a drive thru 
restaurant has been thoroughly assessed against LDP Policy E1 which reflects the main thrust of 
Strategic Policy S9 'Employment Site' provisions to protect existing employment land from 
alternative developments. The projected employed figures and target demographic from this 
development is positive. However, when compared with the potential for manufacturing and skilled 
labour being delivered on site it is not policy compliant.  It is argued by the applicant that this site 
will not come forward due to the suitability and viability of the site, therefore this is a better option 
than 'do nothing' on the site. It is the contention of the Local Planning Authority that the information 
provided is not sufficiently compelling or conclusive enough to establish that the site will not come 
forward for a B use class.  Unlike the adjacent site, there is no B use class development arising 
from this proposal, and given that the proposal arguably removes the opportunity for the delivery of 
this allocated site for B use class development with the associated high skilled jobs, to be replaced 
for low skilled retail employment, it can be concluded that this test has not been met. The applicant 
has provided a detailed case in response to concerns raised, although it cannot be concluded on 
balance that the proposed development complies with Policy E1. It is therefore contrary to the 
provisions and aims of the LDP that seeks to ensure there is an appropriate portfolio of 
employment land and premises that can be safeguarded from competing uses and provides for a 
sufficient quality, range and choice of employment sites.  
 
The drive-through restaurant is an A3 use. LDP Policy RET4 relates to new retail and commercial 
leisure/entertainment developments and states the preferred location of such proposals is within 
Central Shopping Areas (CSAs). Policy RET4 must be considered in full along with national 
planning policy set out in PPW12. 
 
The proposed development passes the sequential tests. The alternative sites assessed that are 
potentially policy compliant are not acceptable as they are unable to accommodate the 
requirement to deliver a 'drive thru' element with associated parking and turning area. The element 
that makes this retail use unsuitable for sites that are policy compliant is the infrastructure required 
to serve car users, thus, excluding more sustainable, well-connected sites, facilitating car-centric 
developments in out-of-town locations. The proposed site meets the needs of the applicant as it is 
situated adjacent to the M48. It is recognised that in addition to the passing traffic, the 
development serves the catchments of Chepstow and Caldicot, although the proposal fails to meet 
the requirements for delivering public transport ( criteria e) - the proposal is required to be in a 
location accessible to public transport facilities). The location is effectively designed around car 
accessibility rather than alternative transport modes. Finally, the proposal is sited on a protected 
employment site for B use class development which this policy purposely identifies as being 
unacceptable. It can be concluded that this site, which is deemed to meet the needs of the 
applicant, is one that does not meet the required standards by public transport and is sited on a 
protected employment site. It therefore fails to meet LDP Policy RET 4 criteria e) and f).   
 
Finally, Planning Policy Wales sets out a transport hierarchy, "proposals must seek to maximise 
accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport, by prioritising the provision of appropriate on-
site infrastructure and, where necessary, mitigating transport impacts through the provision of off-
site measures, such as the development of active travel routes, bus priority infrastructure and 
financial" (4.1.11). Furthermore LDP Policy S16 states that, "Where appropriate, all development 
proposals shall promote sustainable, safe forms of transport which reduce the need to travel, 
increase provision for walking and cycling and improve public transport provision. This will be 
facilitated by:  
- Reducing the need to travel, especially by car;  
- Favouring development close to public transport facilities;  

Page 60



- Promoting public transport, walking and cycling; …"  
 
The application has proposed improvements to formalise the PROW, although the offering is 
insufficient and is not acceptable by reason of the disjointed design. Due to land ownership and 
the red line boundary, there are opportunities to significantly improve the design of this route and 
meet the requirements of both the PROW and Active Travel officer. In both cases the applicant 
has not agreed to these changes required to remove the objection from the PROW officer.  
There are clear concerns given the location of this site and the likelihood that people will attempt to 
reach it on foot by crossing the trunk roads and M48 roundabout. 'The Proposed route' - namely 
through the underpass and along the Coast path - is the only route which may mitigate some of 
the risk with suitable path grading on the slope, but this is still significantly longer than the on-road 
route, is also less visible and less overlooked. The desire line of pedestrians is up the road 
towards the motorway junction which is significantly shorter than the alternative proposed and the 
directness of this route is a significant draw. The 'Proposed Route' in combination with the hours of 
business, potential employee-base and customer-base raises serious concern about the increased 
risk of pedestrians accessing the site via the motorway junction route. 
 
National guidance seeks to reduce the need to travel unsustainably, with transport requirements to 
be considered in line with the sustainable travel hierarchy. The localised improvements do not 
address the existing deficiency or justify further development that would increase usage of the 
same inadequate infrastructure. LDP Policy S13 Transport requires new development to promote 
sustainable, safe forms of transport (with a focus on active travel and public transport). LDP Policy 
MV2 Sustainable Transport Access requires new developments to, dependent on their location, 
size and local need, to include provision for integration of appropriate sustainable transport links. 
 
The agent has stated that the principle of this development has already been established with the 
approval of the mixed use development on the adjacent site. However, this differs from the 
approved scheme. In the case of the approved scheme the drive thru restaurant is just one 
element of a larger mixed use development, it sits alongside the Euro Garages development that 
is principally a fuel station and serves car users from the M48. With this current application, this is 
solely a proposal for a drive thru restaurant, a restaurant that is recognised in the supporting 
information that serves the catchments for Chepstow and Caldicot as well as the commuters 
travelling along the M48.  
 
The proposal fails to comply with national guidance and planning policy. This proposal fails to fully 
comply with LDP policies E1 and RET 4. There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the 
only safe pedestrian and cycle access is attractive enough to prevent visitors from accessing via 
the shorter route across the M48 roundabout.  This results in a development that is inherently car-
focused, potentially conflicting with wider sustainability goals that aim to reduce vehicle reliance 
and carbon emissions. The proposal does not accord with the sustainable travel hierarchy or 
overall would help address the global climate emergency. The proposal fails to comply with LDP 
policies S13 and MV2 and is recommended for refusal accordingly. 
 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE 
 
Reasons for Refusal: 
 

1. The application site is designated as a Protected Employment Site in the adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDP) (allocation: SAE2k). The application is contrary to Local 
Development Plan Policy S9 and Policy E1 as this proposal represents a move away from 
the use classes B1, B2 and B8 to an A3 retail use. As stated in Policy E1 (Policy E1 - 
Protection of Existing Employment Land of the LDP) such uses will only be permitted if 
they meet the given criteria. The information provided is not sufficiently compelling or 
conclusive enough to establish that the site will not come forward for B use class and does 
not meet the criteria or exceptions cited under Policy E1. The proposal is therefore contrary 
to the provisions and aims of the Local Development Plan that seek to ensure there is an 
appropriate portfolio of employment land and premises that can be safeguarded from 
competing uses and provides for a sufficient quality, range and choice of employment sites.  

 

Page 61



2 The drive-through restaurant is an A3 use. LDP Policy RET4 relates to new retail and  
commercial leisure/entertainment developments and states the preferred location of such 
proposals is within Central Shopping Areas (CSAs). The proposal fails to meet the 
requirements for delivering public transport as the proposal is not in a location accessible 
to public transport facilities and the proposal is sited on a protected employment site for B 
use class development which this policy purposely identifies as being unacceptable. It 
therefore fails to meet LDP Policy RET 4 criteria (e) and (f). 

 
3 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024), specifically Chapter 4, seeks to reduce the need 

to travel unsustainably with transport requirements to be considered in line with the 
sustainable travel hierarchy. The design of the proposed public right of way that crosses 
the site is disjointed and unconnected. There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that 
the only safe pedestrian and cycle access is attractive enough to prevent visitors from 
accessing via the shorter route across the M48 roundabout. This results in a development 
that is inherently car-focused, conflicting with wider sustainability goals that aim to reduce 
reliance on private motor vehicles and carbon emissions. The proposal does not accord 
with the sustainable travel hierarchy or address the global climate emergency. The 
proposal fails to comply with PPW12 and Local Development Plan policies S13 and MV2.  

 
 

 

 

Page 62



Appeals lodged with the Council between 01/10/2025 and 31/12/2025 

 

APPLICATION 
NUMBER 

ADDRESS DESCRIPTION 
APPEAL 

TYPE 
APPEAL 
PROCEDURE 

DATE 
APPEAL 
LODGED 

DM/2025/00330 
1 Bersondy, Llanarth, 
Monmouthshire NP15 
2AY 

Proposed single storey rear 
and two storey side 
extensions. 

Appeal Against 
Refusal 

Written Reps 24-Oct-25 

E25/197 

Land At Llangovan, 
Llangovan, 
Monmouthshire, NP25 
4BU 

Appeal against Enforcement 
Notice  

Enforcement 
Notice - 
Material 
change of use 

Written Reps 09-Dec-25 

 P
age 63

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To confirm for accuracy the minutes of the previous meeting.
	Minutes

	4a Application DM/2024/01398 - Renovation and domestic conversion of a collection of Listed barns. The barns consist of three main structures; Y Beudy; an old byre and later a milking parlour, the Cruck barn and the old Stables. It is proposed that a new link is built between the Cruck Barn and Y Beudy, and that the existing link between the cruck barn and the old stables is rebuilt. The Cruck barn and Y Beudy will become a three bedroom house, and the old stables an attached one bedroom annex and open garage. New services will be fitted throughout to include solar panels, a ground source heat pump and a new treatment plant.Land At New House Farm Llanvetherine Monmouthshire NP7 8RH.
	4b Application DM/2024/01537 - Development of a restaurant with drive-thru facility (Use Class A3) including access, servicing, car parking, hard and soft landscaping and other associated works.  Land At Newhouse Farm Industrial Estate, Chepstow, Monmouthshire.
	5 FOR INFORMATION - Appeals lodged with the Council between 1st October and 31st December 2025.

